~

HURMAEAALY

06036

2 |
\u.‘ b omhe ! ;‘(

| | / ' i

. A ] 1

§ % / 1088 ;j
\ A,,.,,.;—-r—____.——_—z-':"':‘f"—:"; e

O
r —
\
© m
!
31
ﬂ
/m( o e} “
f{’ S %\ T an L
\VA“G&L“%ILQKQN
(-
| LIS & »,@f@ i
| |
i
H
!
\
" J
fj AYAEN ‘
I‘"‘ ‘ E %
A\ \u"’ _Annual Report PROCESSED
MAY 19 2008

THOMSC
FINANCIA%




/i;

CELL GENESYS

Cell Genesys is focused on developing and commercializing novél
biological therapies for patients with cancer. We currently have tvjvo
clinical-stage product platforms — GVAX® cancer immunotherapiés

and oncolytic virus therapies. Our lead program, GVAX immunotfllerapy
for prostate cancer, is in Phase 3 human clinical trials in advance(}j
stage disease, and we have the necessary manufacturing capabilii‘ties in
place to support potential product launch. CVAX immunotherapy for
pancreatic cancer and GVAX immunotherapy for leukemia are in Phase
2 clinical trials. Our lead oncolytic virus therapy, CG0070 for bladder
cancer, is in a Phase 1 trial. For further information, please visit odr

website at www.cellgenesys.com.
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In 2005 we focused our expertise and resources on our most promising product programs to put
Cell Genesys in the best possible position to successfully develop innovative biological therapies for
\‘ patients with cancer. Our accomplishments during the past year include:

+ Advancing our fead program, GVAX® immunotherapy for prostate cancer in Phase 3 development
|f\ by initiating a second Phase 3 trial, VITAL-2 ¢nd expanding both the VITAL-T and VITAL-2 trials
beyond the U.S. to Canada and Eurape.

&‘ » Reporting encouraging Phase 2 clinical results across the entire GVAX platform—in prostate
| cancer, pancreatic cancer and both acute ani chronic myelogenous leukemia.

i * [nitiating clinical development of CG0070, our lead oncolytic virus therapy, in a Phase 1 trial for
i g P Y PY.
patients with recurrent bladder cancer.

f . s ' .

| Along with our product development progress, we continued to maintain our financial strength
and sources of capital through a diversified asset base. Additionally, Cell Genesys has in place

b manufacturing facilities that are needed for potzntial product launch.

‘ We ended 2005 with approximately $130.0 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term
‘;l invesments. In addition, at December 31, 2005. we held approximately 3.0 million shares of
, Abgenix common stock, which we subsequently sold for gross proceeds of $65.5 million.

| Ahead, there are many exciting milestones in 2006. We: expect to:

) « Report Phase 1 data for GVAX immunotherap!s for prostate cancer in combination with MDX-010,
a fully-human anti-CTLA-4 antibody being developed by Medarex, Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb.

i * Report initial Phase 1 data from the CG0070 hladder cancer trial.
* Report follow-up Phase 2 data for both our GVAX pancreatic cancer and teukemia trials.
l\‘ » Caomplete enrollment in our VITAL-1 Phase 3 t-al for GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer.

‘ We believe our future commercial opportunities are significant and that we have the expertise and
! resources we need to meet our goals in 2006 and beyond. We thank our employees for their tireless
‘ commitment to these goals and our stockholder:; for their continued support.

March 31, 2006

At [ p—

Stephen A. Sherwin, M.D. Joseph J. Vallner, Ph.D.
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer President & Chief Operating Officer
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Advancement of GVAX® immunotherapy |
for prostate cancer in two Phase 3 trials |

We are engaged in two multinational Phase 3 studies in advanced prostate cancer—VITAL-1 and
VITAL-2—targeting a total of 1,200 patients with 600 patients in each trial, making thlS one of the
largest programs ever carried out in advanced prostate cancer. (

VITAL), |
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! « VITAL-1 and VITAL-2 are now actively enrolling patients in the US, ‘Canada and Europe.

* The primary endpoint of these trials is to demonstrate |mprovemept in patient survival compared
to Taxotere® chemotherapy, the current approved standard of care. ,

|
 VITAL-1 is comparing GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer versus Taxotere chemotherapy
administered with prednisone in metastatic hormone-refractory patients who are asymptomatlc

with respect to cancer-related pain.

¢ VITAL-2 compares GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer in cc;mbination with Taxotere versus
Taxotere and prednisone in metastatic hormone-refractory pattents who are experiencing cancer-
related pain.

\
|
I
|
|
|
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Encouraging Phase 2 efficacy data
across GVAX® cancer immuriotherapy platform

The future prospects for the GVAX platform are evidenced by the compelling Phase 2 data reported
in 2005 for each clinical product and type of cancer.

* GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer—At the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO)
! meeting in May 2005, and more recently at the ASCO Prostate Cancer Symposium in February

‘ 2006, we reported updated survival data from our second Phase 2 trial in patients with advanced
| prostate cancer. These new results are consistent with the median survival results reported from

‘ our first Phase 2 trial. In addition, the results frorn both trials compare favorably to previously
published median survival results for Taxotere® chemotherapy, the current standard of care for ;
this advanced stage of the disease.

on Molecular Targets and Cancer Therape Jtics mzeting last November 2005, we reported Phase 2
data in patients with operable pancreatic cancer showing encouraging two-year patient survival

|
* GVAX immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer—At the AACR-NCI-EORTC International Conference \
that compares favorably to the published 1istorical survival rates for such patients. |

* GVAX immunotherapy for leukemia—Phate 2 data presented at the ASCO meeting in May 2005
showed that treatment with this immunotherapy product may reduce residual leukemic cells that f
persist after chemotherapy in patients with acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) as indicated by |
a leukemia-associated genetic marker. Similarly at the American Society of Hematology (ASH)
meeting in December 2005, a Phase 2 trial in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) 1
was reported that showed a reduction in persistent leukemic cells following the addition of our
immunotherapy to ongoing Gleevec® therapy.
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ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TCO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
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Act. Yes [J No

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filcd all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to
file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pu.rsuant io Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein,
and will not be contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by
reference in Part 11T of this Form 10-K or any amendment to vhis Form 10-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer.
See definition of “accelerated filer and large accelerated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. Check One.
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Act. Yes O No
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aggregate market value of shares held by non-affiliates of the Reysistrant (based on the closing sale price of shares on the Nasdaq
National Market on June 30, 2005) was $239.9 million. Shares of Common Stock held by each executive officer and director
have been excluded in that such persons may be deemed to be affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a
conclusive determination for other purposes.

As of Febmary 28, 2006, the number of outstanding share; of the Registrant’s Common Stock was 45,646,252,

Portions of the Registrant’s Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by reference
into Part IIT of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Such Proxy Statement will be filed within 120 days of the end of the fiscal
year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART I |

Statements made in this document other than statements of historical fact, including statements about us
and our subsidiaries and the future of our respective clinical trials, re“search programs, product pipelines,
current and potential corporate partnerships, licenses and intellectualr{ property, the adequacy of capital
reserves and anticipated operating results and cash expenditures, are forward—lookmg statements within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
As such, they are subject to a number of uncertainties that could cause ac‘tual results to differ materially from
the statements made, Including risks associated with the success of ‘research and product development
programs, the issuance and validity of patents, the development and protectzon of proprietary technologies, the
ability 1o raise capital, operating expense levels and the ability to establish and retain corporate partnerships.
Reference is made to discussions about risks associated with product, development programs, intellectual
property and other risks which may affect us under Item 1A, “Risk Factors” below. We do not undertake any
obligation to update forward-looking statements. The following shou}ld be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements located elsewhere in this Annual Rep?rt on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2005 and other documents filed by us from time to time with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview (

i
|
{
|
|
r

We are a biotechnology company focused on the development and commerc1ahzat1on of novel biological
therapies for patients with cancer. We are currently developing cell- based immunotherapies and oncolytic
virus therapies to treat different types of cancer. Our clinical stage cancqr programs involve cell- or viral-based
products that have been genetically modified to impart disease-fighting characteristics that are not found in
conventional chemotherapeutic agents. Our goal is to emphasize “off-the-shelf”” products and, when possible,

i

therapies that can be administered in the outpatient setting.

Our lead program is our GVAX® cell-based immunotherapy for carjmcer. We are conducting two Phase 3
clinical trials in prostate cancer and Phase 2 trials in each of pancreatic cancer and leukemia. We initiated our
Phase 3 clinical trials for GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer in July 2004 and June 2005, each under a
Special Protocol Assessment (SPA) with the United States Food and; Drug Administration (FDA). During
2005, we obtained encouraging Phase 2 data from several of our GVAX programs including prostate cancer,

pancreatic cancer and leukemia. ;

In our oncolytic virus therapies program, which we are developing in part through a global alliance with
Novartis AG (Novartis), we initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial of CG0070 in recurrent bladder cancer in April
2005. We also have other preclinical oncolytic virus therapy prograr:ns, including CG5757, which we are
evaluating as potential therapies for multiple types of cancer. J

Cell Genesys was incorporated in the State of Delaware in 1988 Our common stock trades on the
Nasdag National Market under the symbol “CEGE.” Our prmc1pa1 executive offices are located at 500
Forbes Boulevard, South San Francisco, California 94080, and our phone number is (650) 266-3000. Our
Internet home page is located at Attp://www.cellgenesys.com; however, the information in, or that can be
accessed through, our home page is not part of this report. Our annual (reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports
on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to suchf reports are available, free of charge, on
or through our Internet home page as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material
with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SE‘C).

| . .
In 2001, we spun out central nervous system gene therapy techn}‘ology into Ceregene, Inc., in which we
now have a minority ownership position. Ceregene is continuing to develop gene therapies for the treatment of
neurological disorders including Alzheimer’s disease, Parkinson’s disease and Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

(ALS), commonly known as “Lou Gehrig’s disease.” !

In February 2003, our shelf registration statement was declared effective by the SEC under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, which initially allowed us to offer up to $15Q.0 million of securities on short notice in

|
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one or more public offerings. We used this shelf registration in March 2004 to complete a public offering of
4,887,500 shares of our common stock (including the entire over-allotment option), resulting in gross proceeds
of $61.1 million. Although up to $88.9 million may still be offered under the shelf registration, there can be no
assurance that we will be able to issue any of the remaining securities under this shelf registration on
acceptable terms, or at all.

In October and November 2004, we sold a total of $145.0 million aggregate principal amount of our
3.125% Convertible Senior Notes due 2011 in a private placement. We used the net proceeds to repay bank
debt totaling $95.0 million, thereby eliminating restrictions on $60.0 million of cash.

In June 2005, we announced a strategic restructuring of our business intended to focus resources on our
most advanced and most promising product development programs. Based on additional encouraging data
reported at the American Society of Clinical Oncology Annual Meeting in May 2005, we redeployed the
majority of our resources going forward to advance GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer, currently in
Phase 3 development, as well as GVAX immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer, GVAX immunotherapy for
leukemia and our CGO070 and CG5757 oncolytic virus therapies. -

We ended 2005 with approximately $129.6 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments,
including approximately $2.9 million of restricted cash and investments. We have maintained our financial
position through strategic management of our resources, including our holdings of Abgenix, Inc. common
stock, of which we held approximately 3.0 million shares as of December 31, 2005, and by relying on funding
from various corporate collaborations and licensing agreements. In-January and February 2006, we sold all
3.0 million shares of Abgenix common stock which w: held as of December 31, 2005, resulting in gross
proceeds of $65.5 million and a realized gain of $62.7 million.

A major portion of our operating expenses to date is related to the research and development of our
GVAX cancer immunotherapy and oncolytic .virus therapy programs. During 2005, 2004, and 2003, our
research and development expenses were $92.4 million, $92.1 milljon and $85.3 million, respectively. We
expect that our research and development expenditures and headcount will continue to increase in future years
to support expanded, more advanced and more numerous clinical trials and additional product development
activities. We intend to maintain our strong commitment to research and development as an essential
component of our oncology product development effort involving biological therapies for cancer, Licensed
technology developed by outside parties is an additional source of potential products.

Our Clinical Pipeline

Product Candidates Targeted Indication ' Status Commercialization Rights

GVAX Cancer Immunotherapies:

Prostate Cancer Prostate cancer {hornone- | Phase 3 Cell Genesys
refractory metastatic disease) |

Pancreatic Cancer Resectable pancreatic cancer Phase 2 : Cell Genesys
Acute myelogenous l:ukemia ;- Phase2 Cell Genesys

Leukemia: : Chronic myelogenous leukernia Phase 2 Cell Genesys

Oncolytic Virus Therapy: ‘

CG0070 Recurrent bladder cancer Phase 1 Cell Genesys/Novartis

Our GVAX Cancer Immunotherapy Program

Our GVAX immunotherapies are cancer treatments designed to stimulate the patient’s immune system
to effectively fight cancer. GVAX cancer immunotherapies are comprised of tumor cells that are genetically
modified to secrete an immune-stimulating cytokine known as granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating
factor, or GM-CSF, and are then irradiated for safety. Since GVAX cancer immunotherapies consist of whole
tumor cells, the cancer patient’s immune system can be uctivated against multiple tumor cell components
{antigens), potentially resulting in greater clinical benefit than if the immunotherapy consisted of only a single
tumor cell component. Additionally, the secretion of GM-CSF by the modified tumor cells can greatly

3




enhance the immune response by recruiting and activating dendritic cells at the injection site, a critical step in
the optimal response by the immune system to any immunotherapy product. The antitumor immune response
which occurs throughout the body following immunization with a GVAX} product can potentially result in the
destruction of tumor cells that persist or recur following surgery, radiation‘f therapy or chemotherapy treatment.

More than 600 patients have received our GVAX cancer immunotherapies in multiple clinical trials to
date, and the immunotherapies have been shown to have a favorable side effect profile that avoids many of the
toxicities associated with conventional cancer therapies. GVAX cancer immunotherapies can be conveniently
administered in an outpatient setting as an injection into the skin, a si(‘te where immune cells, including in
particular dendritic cells, can be optimally accessed and activated. Our GVAX cancer immunotherapies are
being tested as non patient-specific, or allogeneic, products. We intend to develop these immunotherapies as
“off-the-shelf” pharmaceutical products. r

GVAX Immunotherapy for Prostate Cancer ;

Our GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer is a non patient specific product comprised of two
genetically-modified prostate cancer cell lines. We intend to develop and manufacture this immunotherapy as
an “off-the-shelf”” pharmaceutical for use after hormonal therapy for advanced- -stage prostate cancer. Prostate
cancer is the second leading cause of cancer death in men in the United States, with approximately 30,000
men dying each year from the disease. When a man is diagnosed with ea}rly-stage prostate cancer, he is treated
with either a prostatectomy (surgical removal of the prostate) or radlatron therapy. If the patient relapses, he
is treated with hormone therapy to suppress testosterone in order to reduce the growth of the tumor. When the
hormone therapy fails, the patient may or may not be treated with chemotherapy depending upon whether the
disease has spread, or metastasized, to other parts of the body. We have‘ designed our Phase 3 clinical trials to
evaluate whether GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer can beneﬁt patients who have ceased responding

to (become refractory to) hormone therapy and have metastatic d1sease

We have completed five Phase | and Phase 2 clinical trials of oq’r GVAX immunotherapy for prostate
cancer in approximately 200 patients with various stages of recurrent prostate cancer, and the immunotherapy
has had a favorable safety profile in each trial. These clinical trials include two Phase 2 clinical trials in
hormone-refractory prostate cancer patients with radiologic evidence of metastatic disease (“‘metastatic
HRPC”), which is the target population for our current Phase 3 trials.f These trials were designed to evaluate
the safety and efficacy of the immunotherapy, as well as treatment regimens for Phase 3 clinical trials.

In September 2002, we reported final data from our first Phase 2 hqulticenter clinical trial of the prostate
cancer immunotherapy in metastatic HRPC. Thirty-four patients were entered in the trial and were assigned
to receive either low dose (24 patients) or high dose (10 patients) oﬂ the immunotherapy treatment as their
only cancer therapy for up to a six-month period. The combined median survival for both dose groups was
26.2 months. These results compare favorably to the previously published median survival for Taxotere®
(docetaxel) chemotherapy in combination with prednisone. This Taxotere treatment regimen is approved by
the FDA for the treatment of patients with this stage of prostate cancer and is now the currently approved
standard of care. Our ongoing Phase 3 program is designed to conﬁrm this potential survival benefit for

GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer. ‘

Updated data from the second Phase 2 clinical trial were preéented at the February 2006 American
Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCQO) Symposium for Prostate Canc;er. The fully enrolled study includes 80
HRPC patients with evidence of metastasis (spreading) to the bone land other sites. Patients enrolled in this
Phase 2 clinical trial, which evaluated escalating doses of the cancer immunotherapy, were monitored for
safety and for evidence of clinical activity induced by the 1mmunotherapy The results to date for the
22 patients who were treated with a dose comparable to that bcmg“employed in our ongoing Phase 3 trials
indicate that the median survival has not yet been reached for these 22 patients, and the estimated Kaplan-
Meier median survival is expected to meet or exceed 29.1 months based on the patients still in follow-up. Four
patients have withdrawn consent to further follow-up and thus werer censored in the analysis.

We are conducting two Phase 3 clinical trials of GVAX 1mmunotherapy for prostate cancer in metastatic
HRPC. The first Phase 3 clinical trial (VITAL-1) commenced in July 2004 and compares GVAX

4 f
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immunotherapy for prostate cancer to Taxotere chemotherapy administered with prednisone with respect to
survival benefit in metastatic HRPC patients who are asymptomatic with respect to cancer-related pain. The
VITAL-1 trial is designed to demonstrate superior survival in the patients receiving GVAX cancer
immunotherapy compared to patients receiving Taxotere plus predlnsonc therapy and is expected to enroll
approximately 600 patients. The second Phase 3 clinicz] trial, referred to as the VITAL-2 trial, commenced in
June 2005 and compares GVAX immunotherapy for piostate sancer plus Taxotere chemotherapy to Taxotere
chemotherapy plus prednisone with respect to survivil benefit in metastatic HRPC patients with cancer-
related pain. We expect to enroll approximately 600 patients in the VITAL-2 trial. VITAL-1 and VITAL-2
are both belng conducted in the United States, Canada and Lurope

We received a Special Protocol Assessment, or SP’A, fromn thc FDA for VITAL-1 in May 2004 and for
VITAL-2 in May 2005. Under this procedure, a sponsor may seek the FDA’s agreement on the design and
analysis of a clinical trial intended to form the primary basis cf anieffectiveness claim. If the FDA agrees in
writing, its agreement may not be changed after the trial begirs except in limited circumstances, such as the
FDA determining that a substantial scientific issue essential t¢ determining the safety or effectiveness of the
product was identified after the trial had begun. If the outcome of the trial is successful, the sponsor will
ordinarily be able to rely on it as the basis for approval with respect to effectiveness. While we have received
FDA’s agreement on a SPA for each of our two Phase 3 trials assessing GVAX immunotherapy for prostate
cancer, there can be no assurance that these trials will have successful outcomes or that we will ultimately
receive approval for this product. We currently manufasture GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer for
Phase 3 clinical trials in our Hayward, California manufacturing facility, which operates in accordance with
cGMP regulations, and plan to manufacture product for “he pote nt1a1 market launch of this immunotherapy in
the same facility. We have recently begun to develop a srategy to achieve optimal reimbursement for GVAX
immunotherapy for prostate cancer and have conducted preliminary market research for this product.

GVAX Immunotherapy for Pancreatic Caﬁcer

Our GVAX immunotherapy for pancreatic: cancer is a nor: patient-specific product. A Phase 2 clinical
trial of GVAX immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer is currently being conducted by the Sidney Kimmel
Comprehensive Cancer Center at Johns Hopkins in €0 patients Wlth resectable pancreatic cancer who
received the immunotherapy after surgical resection of their i umor and standard adjuvant radiation and
chemotherapy. Interim results from this trial were reported in November 2005 and showed that one-year
survival was 88% and that two-year survival was 76% with mean follow-up of 24 months. These results
compare favorably with historical data published in the July 2005 is%sue of the Journal of Clinical Oncology
wherein two-year survival has been reported to be in the range of 40 to 50%. We expect to update the results of
this trial, as well as potential future development plans for this product, during the second half of 2006.

The Phase 2 trial described above was prompted b results from an initial Phase 1 clinical trial also
conducted by the Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center at Johns Hopkins. Data from the Phase 1
trial, which evaluated GVAX immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer in combination with surgery and standard
adjuvant radiation and chemotherapy, demonstrated prolongation of disease-free survival in three of eight
patients who received the two highest immunotherapy doses after surgical resection of their tumors followed
by standard adjuvant radiation and chemotherapy. The most recently updated data revealed that these three
patients remained alive and disease-free at least 8 years afier their respective diagnoses. In July 2004, studies
were published in The Journal of Experimental Medicire describing the immune response to the cancer
immunotherapy in these three patients which indicated that patient-specific T cell immunity had been
induced in these patients, but not in patients whose disease had progressed and who died.

GVAX Cancer Immunotherapy for Leukemia

Our GVAX cancer 1mmunotherapy for leukemia is a non pau«,nt-specxﬁc GVAX cancer immunotherapy
product. Clinical trials are being conducted evaluating this GVAX cancer immunotherapy administered after
initial chemotherapy pre- and post- hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in patients with newly-diagnosed
acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) and after treatment with Gleevee ® (imatinib mesylate) for more than
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one year in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML). The goal of GVAX immunotherapy in these
settings is to reduce or eliminate residual disease after standard chemotperapy or Gleevec therapy.

Updated data from a Phase 2 clinical trial in AML of GVAX imrﬁunotherapy for leukemia combined
with autologous (derived from a person’s own body) leukemia cells, which has enrolled 54 patients, were
presented at the May 2005 meeting of the American Society of Clinical anology. The preliminary findings of
this trial indicate that this cancer immunotherapy is well tolerated and may reduce residual leukemic cells that
persist after chemotherapy, as indicated by decreased levels of WT-1, a leukemia-associated genetic marker
that is detectable in over 95 percent of patients with active AML. Elean of 16 patients tested to date were
reported to have decreased WT-1 levels in their peripheral blood following the initiation of immunotherapy.
Furthermore, two-year relapse-free survival after a single pre-transpiant(’immunotherapy was greater in these

11 patients compared to those that did not have decreases in WT-1 (73% v. 0%, p=0.03).

Preliminary findings from a Phase 2 clinical trial in CML of GVAD( immunotherapy for leukemia were
presented at the December 2005 meeting of the American Society of Hematology The trial was conducted by
the Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center at Johns Hopkins. In this trial, 19 CML patients with
molecular evidence of persistent leukemia despite more than one year of Gleevec® (imatinib mesylate)
therapy were treated with GVAX cancer immunotherapy for leukemia while continuing to receive Gleevec.
Interim findings indicated that the addition of the immunotherapy tgf Gleevec therapy reduced persistent
leukemic disease in 9 of 19 patients to date as demonstrated by a comp‘lete disappearance (five patients) or a
greater than one log (90%) reduction (four patients) in ber-abl — a validated genetic marker found on the
leukemic cells. Reductions of ber-abl have been previously shown to(be strongly associated with improved
progression-free survival in CML patients treated with Gleevec. We expect to update the results of this trial,
as well as potential future development plans for this product, during the second half of 2006.

\
Our Oncolytic Virus Therapies Program ,f

Our oncolytic virus therapies program utilizes adenovirus, one of t;he viruses responsible for the common
cold, to create viruses that can kill cancer cells. The virus is engineered to selectively replicate in targeted
cancer cells, thereby killing these cells and leaving healthy normal cells largely unharmed. The virus replicates
in cancer cells until the cancer cells can no longer contain the virus and burst. The tumor cell is destroyed and
the newly created viruses are believed to spread to neighboring cancer cells to continue the cycle of viral

replication and tumor cell destruction.

In July 2003, we announced a global alliance with Novartis for t]}w development and commercialization
of oncolytic virus therapies. Under the agreement, we also acquired exclusive worldwide rights to certain
oncolytic virus therapy products and certain related intellectual property of Genetic Therapy, Inc. (GTI), an
affiliate of Novartis, as well as related intellectual property of NovalLtis Our alliance with Novartis thereby
provided us with additional oncolytic virus therapy product opﬁortumﬂes at the preclinical stage of
development. r

[
!

CG0070 Oncolytic Virus Therapy for Recurrent Bladder Cancer J

CGO0070, an oncolytic virus therapy with specificity for multiple fcancers, has been evaluated in numerous
preclinical studies. CG0070 is the first “armed” oncolytic virus therapy developed by Cell Genesys, so-named
because it has been engineered to secrete GM-CSF, an immune-stimulating hormone, which also serves as
the adjuvant in our GVAX cancer immunotherapy platform. As a result, CG0070 can potentially destroy
cancer cells by two different mechanisms: direct cell-killing by thcJ virus and immune-mediated cell-killing
stimulated by GM-~CSF. In early 2005, we announced that an Invest1gat10nal New Drug (IND) application
filed with the FDA for CG0070 had become effective. We initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial in patients with
recurrent bladder cancer in April 2005.




CG5757 Oncolytic Virus Therapy for Multiple Types of Cancer |

CGS757 is in preclinical studies. This product iacludes two tumor-selective promoters, including a
telomerase promoter, to potentially increase its tumor s>ecificity. This oncolytic adenovirus has the potential
to target multiple types of cancer. Preclinical studies evaluating CG5757 continue in our laboratories.

Government Regulations
FDA and Other Foreign Regulation

Prescription pharmaceutical products and biologics are subject to extensive pre- and post-marketing
regulation by the FDA, including regulations that govern the testing, manufacturing, safety, efficacy, labeling,
storage, record-keeping, advertising and promotion of the products under the Federal Food, Drug and
Cosmetic Act and the Public Health Services Act, and hy comparable agencies in most foreign countries. The
process required by the FDA before a new drug or biologic may be marketed in the U.S. generally involves the
following: completion of preclinical laboratory and animal testing; submission of an Investigational New Drug
(IND) application, which must become effective before clinical trials may begin; performance of adequate
and well controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed drug’s or biologic’s
intended use; and approval by the FDA of a New Drug Application (NDA), in the case of a drug, or of a
Biologics License Application (BLA) for a biologic. Fareign countries have similar requirements.

The activities required before a pharmaceutical azent may be marketed begin with preclinical testing.
Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluation of potential products and animal studies to assess the potential
safety and efficacy of the product and its formulations. The results of these studies and other information
including chemistry, manufacturing and controls inforraation must be submitted to the FDA or comparable
foreign agencies and regulatory bodies as part of an application which must be reviewed and approved before
proposed clinical testing can begin. Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational new drug to
healthy volunteers or to patients under the supervision of a qualified principal investigator. Clinical trials are
conducted in accordance with Good Clinical Practices under protocols that detail the objectives of the study,
the parameters to be used to monitor safety, and the efficacy criteria to be evaluated. Each protocol must be
submitted for regulatory approval. Further, each clinical study must be conducted under the auspices of an
independent institutional review board at the institution at which the study is conducted. The institutional
review board considers, among other things, ethical fuctors and the safety of human subjects. In addition,
certain protocols involving the use of genetically modificd prodiicts must also be reviewed by the Recombinant
DNA Advisory Committee of the National Institutes of Health as well as similar bodies in many European
countries. !

Typically, human clinical trials are conducted in three phases that may overlap. In Phase 1, clinical trials
are conducted with a small number of patients to determine the early safety profile and pharmacology of the
new therapy. In Phase 2, clinical trials are conducted with groups of patients afflicted with a specific disease in
order to determine preliminary efficacy, optimal dosages and expanded evidence of safety. In Phase 3, large
scale, multicenter, comparative clinical trials are conducted with patients afflicted with a target disease in
order to provide enough data for the statistical proof of efficacy and safety required by the FDA and other
regulatory agencies. In the case of products for life-threatening diseases, the initial human testing is generally
done in the target patients rather than in healthy volunteers. Since these patients are already afflicted with the
target disease, it is possible that such studies may provide some results traditionally obtained in Phase 2
clinical trials. These trials are frequently referred to us Phase 1/2 clinical trials. Although the preliminary
Phase 1/2 and Phase 2 clinical trials of our GVAX cancer immunotherapies and oncolytic virus therapies have
shown a generally favorable safety profile to date, theie can he no assurance that such therapies or products
will be tolerated at higher doses or that the clinical efficacy or safety of such therapy or product will be
demonstrated in later stage testing.

The results of the preclinical and clinical testing, together with chemistry, manufacturing and controls
information, are submitted to regulatory agencies in order to obtain approval to commence commercial sales.
In responding to such an application, regulatory agenzies may grant marketing approval, request additional
information or further research, or deny the application if they determine that the application does not satisfy
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their regulatory approval criteria. Approval for a pharmaceutical or biologic product may not be granted on a
timely basis, if at all, or if granted may not cover all the clinical indications for which approval is sought, or
may contain significant limitations in the form of warnings, precautions or contraindications with respect to
conditions of use.

In the United States we have utilized the procedure called a Spec1a1 Protocol Assessment (SPA) for
GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer. Under this procedure, a sponsor may seek the FDA’s agreement
on the design and analysis of a clinical trial intended to form the primary, basis of an effectiveness claim. If the
FDA agrees in writing, its agreement may not be changed aftcrlthe trial begins except in limited
circumstances, such as the FDA determining that a substantial scrcntlﬁc issue essential in determining the
safety or effectiveness of the product was identified after the trial had \begun If the outcome of the trial is
successful, the sponsor will ordinarily be able to rely on it as the\ basis for approval with respect to
effectiveness. While we have received FDA’s agreement on a SPA for each of our Phase 3 VITAL-1 and
VITAL-2 trials, there can be no assurance that these trials will have a successful outcome or that we will

ultimately receive approval for this product. 1

Satisfaction of pre-market approval requirements for new drugs and biologics typically takes several
years, and the actual time required may vary substantially based upon th‘e type, complexity and novelty of the
product or targeted disease. Government regulation may delay or prevent marketing of potential products for a
considerable period of time and impose costly procedures upon our activities. Success in early stage clinical
trials or with prior versions of products does not assure success in later stage clinical trials. Data obtained from
clinical activities are not always conclusive and may be susceptible to varylng interpretations that could delay,

limit or prevent regulatory approval.

Once approved, regulatory agencies may withdraw the product approval if compliance with pre- and post-
marketing regulatory standards is not maintained or if problems occur after the product reaches the
marketplace. In addition, they may require post-marketing studies, referred to as Phase 4 studies, to monitor
the effect of an approved product, and may limit further marketing of the product based on the results of these
post-market studies. The FDA and other foreign regulatory agencies have broad post-market regulatory and
enforcement powers, including the ability to levy fines and penalties, suspend or delay issuance of approvals,
seize or recall products, or withdraw approvals. |

Facilities used to manufacture drugs and biologics are subject to ﬁieriodic inspection by the FDA, the
United States Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) and other dorjnestic and foreign authorities where
applicable, and must comply with ¢cGMP regulations. Manufacturers of biologics also must comply with
general biological product standards. Failure to comply with the sta}tutory and regulatory requirements
subjects the manufacturer to possible legal or regulatory action, such as suspension of manufacturing, seizure
of product, or mandatory or voluntary recall of a product. Adverse exberiences with the product must be
reported to the FDA and foreign agencies and could result in the 1mposmon of market restrictions through
labeling changes or in product removal. Product approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with regulatory

.|

requirements is not maintained or if problems concerning safety or efficacy of the product occur following

approval.

With respect to post-market product advertising and promotion, the FDA and similar foreign agencies
impose a number of complex regulations on entities that advertise and promote pharmaceuticals and biologics,
which include, among other things, standards and regulations relating to| direct-to-consumer advertising, off-
label promotion, industry sponsored scientific and educational activities, and promotional activities involving
the Internet. These agencies have very broad enforcement authority and failure to abide by these regulations
can result in penalties including the issuance of a warning letter directing|the entity to correct deviations from
requisite standards, a requirement that future advertising and promotional materials be pre-cleared by the
FDA or relevant foreign agencies, and foreign, state and federal civil and criminal investigations and
prosecutions. i

|
|
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Other Government Regulations

We are subject to various laws and regulations regarding laboratory practices, the experimental use of
animals, and the use and disposal of hazardous or poentially hazardous substances in connection with our
research. In each of these areas, as above, the government has broad regulatory and enforcement powers,
including the ability to levy fines and civil penalties, suspend or delay issuance of approvals, seize or recall
products, and withdraw approvals, any one or more of which could have a material adverse effect upon us.

In addition to laws and regulations enforced by the FDA, we are also subject to comparable foreign
regulations, regulation under National Institutes of Health guidelines, as well as under the Controlled
Substances Act, the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Environmental Protection Act, the Toxic
Substances Control Act, the Resource Conservation and Rzcovery Act and other present and potential
foreign, federal, state or local laws and regulations, as >ur rescarch and development involves the controlled
use of hazardous materials, chemicals, viruses and various radioactive compounds.

Manufacturing

Manufacture of our products for clinical trials does not require an FDA license, although the FDA and
other regulatory authorities may at any time inspect our maaxufabturing facility. Our Hayward, California
manufacturing facility, which we operate according to cGMP regulations, consists of 51,000 square feet of
manufacturing space and 50,000 square feet of laboratory and office space. Our Hayward manufacturing
facility currently has the capacity to manufacture products for Phase 3 trials of our prostate cancer
immunotherapy and we believe that it will also have the capacity to support market launch.

Corporate Collaborations
Novartis AG

In July 2003, we announced a global alliance between Ncvartis AG and ourselves for the development
and commercialization of oncolytic virus therapies. Jnder the agreement, we also acquired exclusive
worldwide rights to certain oncolytic virus therapy products and related intellectual property of Genetic
Therapy, Inc. (GTI), an affiliate of Novartis, as well as certain related intellectual property of Novartis. We
also recetved a payment of $28.5 million from Novartis 10 be dedicated to the further development of several
oncolytic virus therapy products developed by both ourselves and GTI, for which Novartis has certain
marketing options. In exchange, we issued to Novartis and GTI 1,999,840 shares of our common stock, with
the resuit that Novartis became the holder of approximately five percent (as of the time of the issuance) of
our outstanding common stock. In addition, the agreement provides the basis for the sharing of future
additional development costs and potential profits for certain oncolytic virus products on a worldwide basis.
Upon the exercise of certain options by Novartis, dev:lopment costs and profits would be shared on an
approximately equal basis in the United States. Novartis will be responsible for the development costs for
markets outside the United States and pay us a royalty on potential future sales outside the United States.
Novartis will also reimburse us on a cost-plus basis for products that we manufacture for them to sell outside
of the United States.

In September 2004, the terms of our agreement with Novartis were amended to include the grant of a
non-exclusive worldwide perpetual license to all patent rights of Novartis relating to GM-CSF, a component
of our GVAX cancer immunotherapies, in the field of gene therapy. This license bears a low single digit
royalty. Also included in the agreement was acknowledgment that certain GVAX cancer immunotherapy
products, such as our GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer, would not require this license and hence
would not be subject to future royalty payments to Novertis. ‘

Medarex, Inc.

In May 2003, we entered into a research and development collaboration with Medarex, Inc. to evaluate
combination therapy with our GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer and Medarex’s anti-CTLA-4
antibody. Preclinical studies indicate that anti-CTLA-4 antibody may enhance the activity of GYAX cancer
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immunotherapies. We initiated a Phase 1 trial of this combination therapy in September 2004. We expect to
report preliminary results from this trial during 2006. Under the research and development collaboration
agreement, both companies will share the cost of this clinical trial equally

J

Abgenix, Inc. ‘!

In November 1997, we entered into a gene therapy rights agreemegﬁt with Abgenix, Inc. The agreement
provides us with certain rights to utilize Abgenix’s XenoMouse® technology in the field of gene therapy. We
are obligated to make certain payments to Abgenix for these rights, in“cluding license fees and royalties on
future product sales. The agreement also prohibits Abgenix from granting any third-party licenses for antibody
products based on antigens nominated by Abgenix for its own purposes vjvhere the primary field of use is gene
therapy. In the case of third-party licenses granted by Abgenix where gene therapy is a secondary field,
Abgenix is obligated to share with us a portion of the cash milestone payfnents and royalties resulting from any

products in the field of gene therapy. |

J
|
Other Collaborations ,

We have licensing agreements relating to our proprietary viral Vector technologies. These agreements
enable us to receive monetary reimbursement for providing viral vector technologies to companies that
commercialize these technologies for the research market. Examples 1hclude agreements with the Clontech
division of Becton, Dickinson and Company and with Invitrogen Corporatxon for specific vector technologies.

Patents and Trade Secrets r‘
|

The patent positions and proprietary rights of pharmaceutical and biotechnology firms, including Cell
Genesys, are generally uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. As of December 31, 2005
we had approximately 358 U.S. and foreign patents issued or granted to us or available to us based on licensing
arrangements and approximately 319 U.S. and foreign applications pending in our name or available to us
based on licensing arrangements. We are currently prosecuting our L‘)atent applications, but we cannot be
certain whether any given application will result in the issuance of a patjent or, if any patent is issued, whether

it will provide significant proprietary protection or will not be invalida;ted.

Our commercial success will also depend in part on not infringiﬁg the patents or proprietary rights of
others and not breaching licenses granted to us. We are aware of coﬂpeting intellectual property relating to
both our programs in cancer immunotherapies and oncolytic viruses. While we currently believe that we have
freedom to operate in these areas, there can be no assurance that others will not challenge our position in the
future. We may be required to obtain licenses to certain third-party technologies, genes or other product
components necessary in order to market our products. Any failuref to license any technologies or genes
required to commercialize our technologies or products at reasonable cost may have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations or financial condition. |

|

Litigation, which could result in substantial cost to us, may also be necessary to enforce any patents
issued to us or to determine the scope and validity of other parties’ prop}rietary rights. To determine the priority
of inventions, interference proceedings are frequently declared by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office
(USPTO), which could result in substantial costs to us and may result/m an adverse decision as to the priority
of our inventions. ]

We are currently involved in an interference proceeding related to} one of our technologies. We have filed
an appeal of the final decision from the USPTO relating to an interference proceeding pending since 1996
with Applied Research Systems Holding N.V. (ARS) concerning a patent and patent application related to
gene activation technology. ARS has also appealed the decision. The result of the appeal is uncertain at this
time. We are not currently involved in any other interference proceedmgs We may be involved in other
interference and/or opposmon proceedings in the future. Consequently, we may be required to obtain a license
from the prevailing party in order to continue the portion of our business that relates to the proceeding. Such

license may not be available to us on acceptable terms or on any terrr‘ils and we may have to discontinue that
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portion of our business. We believe there will continte to be significant litigation in the industry regardmg
patent and other intellectual property rights.

We also rely on unpatented trade secrets and ‘mprovements, unpatented know-how and continuing
technological innovation to develop and maintain our competitive position. No assurance can be given that
others will not independently develop substantially ¢quivalent proprietary information and techniques, or
otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or disclose such technology, or that we can meaningfully protect our
rights to our unpatented trade secrets.

We require our employees and consultants to exccute confidentiality agreements upon the commence-
ment of employment and consulting relationships with us. These agreements provide that all confidential
information developed by or made known to an individual during the course of the employment or consulting
relationship generally must be kept confidential. In the case of employees, the agreements provide that all
inventions conceived by the individual, while emploved by us, relating to our business are our exclusive
property. While we have implemented reasonable busiiess measurements to protect confidential information,
these agreements may not provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets in the event of unauthorized use
or disclosure of such information.

Competition

We face substantial competition in the developiment of products for cancer and other diseases. This
competition, from other manufacturers of the same types of products and from manufacturers of different
types of products designed for the same uses, is expected to continue in both U.S. and international markets.
Cancer immunotherapies and oncolytic virus therapies, our two primary focus areas, are rapidly evolving areas
in the biotechnology industry and are expected to unclergo many changes in the coming years as a result of
technological advances. We are currently aware of a number of groups that are developing cancer
immunotherapies and oncolytic virus therapies including early-stage and established biotechnology companies,
pharmaceutical companies, academic institutions, government agencies and research institutions. Examples in
the cancer immunotherapy area include Dendreon Corpyoration, which has completed Phase 3 trials in prostate
cancer, and Therion Biologics Corporation and Onyvax Ltd., which have commenced Phase 2 trials in prostate
cancer, and also Antigenics, Inc., Genitope Corporatioa, Biomira, Inc. and Favrille, Inc. which are developing
immunotherapy products for types of cancers not currentlv targeted by us. We face competition from these
groups in areas such as recruiting employees, acquring technologies that might enhance our ability to
commercialize products, establishing relationships with certain research and academic institutions, enrolling
patients in clinical trials and seeking program partnerships and collaborations with larger pharmaceutical
companies. It is possible that our competitors could achieve earlier market commercialization, could have
superior patent protection, or could have safer, more effective or more cost-effective products. These factors
could render our potential products less competitive, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business.

Human Resources

As of December 31, 2005, we employed 267 peaple, of whom 23 hold Ph.D. degrees and 6 hold M.D.
degrees. Approximately 226 employees are engaged ir rescarch, development and manufacturing operations,
and 41 employees support business development, irtellectual property, finance and other administrative
functions. Many of our management have had prior produc: dzvelopment experience in the biotechnology and
pharmaceutical industries.

Our success will depend in large part upon our ability to attract and retain employees. We face
competition in this regard from other companies, resezrch and academic institutions, government entities and
other organizations. We believe that our employee relations are good.

_II_




Executive Officers

Our executive officers and their ages as of March 1, 2006, are as follows:

Name Age Position

Stephen A. Sherwin, M.D. .......... 57  Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer

Joseph J. Vallner, Ph.D. ............ 59  President and Chief Operating Officer

Sharon E. Tetlow .................. 46  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

Robert J. Dow, MBChB ............ 55  Senior Vice President — Medical Affairs

Carol C. Grundfest ................. 51  Senior Vice Pre51dent — Regulatory Affairs and
Portfolio Management

Christine B. McKinley . ............. 52 Senior Vice President — Human Resources

Michael W. Ramsay................ 49  Senior Vice President — Operations

Robert H. Tidwell.................. 62  Senior Vice Presiqent — Corporate Development

Peter K. Working, Ph.D. ........... 57 Senior Vice President — Research and
Development J

Kristen M. Hege, M.D. ............. 42 Vice President — plinical Research

Dr. Sherwin, chairman of the board and chief executive officer, j(})ined Cell Genesys in March 1990,
Dr. Sherwin has served as chief executive officer since inception, and in March 1994 he was elected to the
additional position of chairman of the Board of Directors. Dr. Sherwin alsb served as president until July 2001,
at which time Dr. Vallner was appointed president. From 1983 to 1990, Dr Sherwin held various positions at
Genentech, Inc., a biotechnology company, most recently as vice pre51dent of clinical research. Prior to 1983,
Dr. Sherwin was on the staff of the National Cancer Institute. Dr. Sherwm currently serves as the chairman of
the board of Ceregene, Inc., a former subsidiary of Cell Genesys, which \he co-founded in 2001. Dr. Sherwin
was also a co-founder of Abgenix, Inc, a former subsidiary of Cell Genesys He is also a director of Neurocrine
Biosciences, Inc. and Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Dr. Sherwin, who also serves as a board member and
treasurer of the Biotechnology Industry Organization, holds a B.A. in biology from Yale University, an M.D.

from Harvard Medical School and is board-certified in internal medicine and medical oncology.

Dr. Vallner, president and chief operating officer, joined Cell Genesys in October 1999. Dr. Vallner also
served as executive vice president and chief operating officer from October 1999 to July 2001. He currently
manages our research, development, clinical, regulatory, manufacturing and operations departments. Prior to
joining Cell Genesys, Dr. Vallner was with SEQUUS Pharmaceutlcals from 1992 to 1999 where he was
instrumental in the product launch of two products including Doxil®, a hposome based cancer therapeutic. In
addition, Dr. Vallner helped transition SEQUUS through its merger witb ALZA Corporation. Prior to that,
he held various positions with Syntex Corporation and G.D. Searle and Company from 1984 to 1992, and was
an associate professor of pharmaceutics at the University of Georgia Pr Vallner, who serves as a board
member of the California Healthcare Institute, received his Ph.D. in pharmaceutics, his M.S. in physical
chemistry and his B.S. in pharmacy from the University of Wisconsin, Madlson

Ms. Tetlow, senior vice president and chief financial officer, joined Cell Genesys in June 2005. Between
2004 and 2005, Ms. Tetlow was a venture partner at Apax Partners, a pnvate equity firm. From 1999 to 2004,
Ms. Tetlow was chief financial officer for diaDexus, a pharmacogenomlcs company. From 1998 to 1999, she
was chief financial officer at Reprogen, and prior to that, between 1988 and 1998, she held senior financial
management positions in other biotechnology companies including Terrapm Technologies, Inc. (now Telik,
Inc.), Synergen (now part of Amgen, Inc.) and Genentech, Inc. Ms. Tetlow received a Master of Business
Administration from the Graduate School of Business, Stanford Unlversny, and a Bachelor of Arts and
Science from the University of Delaware.

Dr. Dow, senior vice president, medical affairs, joined Cell Genesys in March 2005. Prior to joining Cell
Genesys, from 2002 to 2005, Dr. Dow served as chief executive officer at biolitec Pharma ltd, a UK
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biotechnology company wholly-owned by biolitec AG of Germany. From 1997 to 2002, Dr. Dow held senior
executive positions with Quantanova and Scotia Holdings, plc. From 1995 to 1997, Dr. Dow was Global Head
of Global Drug Development with Hoffman la Roche, anc from 1982 to 1995 he held senior executive
positions in drug development with Syntex Corporation. Di. Dow holds a B.Sc. in Medical Science from the
University of St. Andrews and his medical qualification, an MBChB degree, from the University of Dundee in
Scotland. He also is a Fellow of the Royal College of Physicians of Edinburgh.

Ms. Grundfest, senior vice president, regulatory aifairs and portfolio management, joined Cell Genesys in
July 2003. Prior to joining Cell Genesys, Ms. Grundfest served as an independent consultant providing advice,
analysis and recommendations regarding the regulation and approval of pharmaceutical products in the United
States from 2000 to 2003. From 1998 to 2000, Ms. Grundfest served as executive director of project
management and strategic planning.at Systemix, Inc. ind Genetic Therapy, Inc. (affiliates of Novartis AG).
Ms. Grundfest also held senior regulatory positions wita Roch: Global Development and Syntex from 1990 to
1996, as well as served as assistant vice president, research and development at the Pharmaceutical Research
and Manufacturers of America from 1982 to 1990. Ms. Grundfest received an M.H.S. in environmental health
sciences from The Johns Hopkins University, School of Public Health and a B.S. in biology from Stanford
University.

Ms. McKinley, senior vice president, human resonrces, joined Cell Genesys in August 1994. From 1985
to 1994, she was with Nellcor Puritan Bennett, Inc., ‘whers the last position she held was corporate human
resources director. Previously, Ms. McKinley also woked at Genentech, Inc. from 1978 to 1984 in various
human resource positions. She received a B.A. in psychology from the University of California, Santa Barbara.

Mr. Ramsay, senior vice president, operations, joined Cell Genesys in January 2002. Prior to joining Cell
Genesys, Mr. Ramsay served as a vice president of menufacturing at ALZA Corporation from 1999 to 2001.
Mr. Ramsay also held various positions from 1992 to 1999 with SEQUUS Pharmaceuticals, including vice
president of manufacturing operations, as well as various positions at Syntex Corporation focusing on
manufacturing, product development and regulatory affairs from 1978 to 1991. Mr. Ramsay holds a Bachelor
of Pharmacy from the University of Nottingham in the United Kingdom.

Mr. Tidwell, senior vice president, corporate deveiopment, joined Cell Genesys in August 2000. Prior to
joining Cell Genesys, Mr. Tidwell was vice president ¢f business development at Calydon, Inc. from 1998 to
2000. Mr. Tidwell has also held various management positions with such companies as Boston Life Sciences,
where he served as chief operating officer from 1993 to 1994, Genetics Institute, where he was vice president
of marketing and business development from 1988 to 1993, and Eli Lilly and Company, where he held various
positions including director of worldwide pharmaceutical licensing, between 1969 and 1985. Mr. Tidwell holds
an M.B.A. from The Ohio State Graduate School of Business and a Bachelor of Pharmacy from The Ohio
State School of Pharmacy.

Dr. Working, senior vice president, research and developmenf, joined Cell Genesys in September 2001.
Prior to joining Cell Genesys, from 1999 to 2001, Dr. Working served as vice president of analytical and non-
clinical sciences and principal scientist at ALZA Corporation. From 1992 to 1999, Dr. Working was with
SEQUUS Pharmaceuticals, where the last position he held was vice president of research and development.
From 1988 to 1992 he was with Genentech, Inc. where he served as a senior toxicologist and head of the
Experimental Toxicology Group in the Department of :Safety l:valuation. Dr. Working holds Ph.D., M.S. and
B.S. degrees from the University of California, Davis and an M. Al degree from the University of California,
San Francisco.

Dr. Hege was promoted to the position of vice president, clinical research in July 2004. Dr. Hege joined
Cell Genesys in January 1994 as a medical post-doctoral research fellow, working on preclinical studies of
hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy. For the past sight years, she has worked in the clinical research
department, most recently as senior director, clinical research. In addition to her work at Cell Genesys,
Dr. Hege has held a clinical faculty appointment at University of California, San Francisco (UCSF) since
1997 in the adult leukemia and bone marrow transplant program. Dr. Hege received a B.A. in biochemistry
from Dartmouth College, an M.D. from UCSF, and is board-certified in medical oncology and hematology.
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Medical Advisory Board
We have established a Medical Advisory Board that includes several prominent leaders in the field of
oncology. As of December 31, 2005, the board consisted of the followmg individuals:

Name J Scientific Position

Bruce Chabner, M.D. ....... ... ... ... ...... Clinical Director;
Massachusetts General Hospital Cancer Center
Professor of Meg‘iicinc
Harvard Medical: School

Jordan U. Gutterman, M.D..................... Department of Molecular Therapeutics'
Professor of Medicine
University of Te);(as

M.D. Anderson ‘Cancer Center

Craig Henderson, MD......................... Adjunct Professor of Hematology/Oncology
University of California, San Francisco
Ronald Levy, MD. ....... .. ... i, Robert K. Summy and Helen K. Summy

Professor of Mecjicine
Chief of the Div}ision of Oncology
. Stanford Universjity School of Medicine
William Nelson, M.D., Ph.D.................... Associate Profesjsor of Oncology, Pathology,
Pharmacology and Medicine, and Urology
Sidney Kimmel iComprehensive Cancer Center
The Johns Hopkins University
John T. Potts, Jr, MD. ... ... ... ... ........... Physician-in-Chief and Director of Research

Emeritus |

Massachusetts General Hospital

Jackson Distinglilished Professor of Clinical

Medicine ]

Harvard Medical School
|

Dr. Potts, who is also a member of our Board of Directors, serve‘s as a liaison between the Medical
Advisory Board and the Board of Directors, making periodic reports on the findings of the Medical Advisory
Board to the Board of Directors. |
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investors should carefully consider the risks descnibed helow before making an investment decision. The
risks described below are not the only ones facing our company. Additional risks not currently known to us or
that we currently believe are immaterial may also impair our business operations. Our business could be
harmed by any of these risks. The trading price of our common stock could decline, and our ability to repay
our convertible notes could be impaired, due to any of these risks, and investors may lose all or part of their
investment. In assessing these risks, investors should alio refer to the other information contained or
incorporated by reference in this Annual Report oin Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial
statements and related notes. '

Risks Related to Our Company

Our products are in developmental stage, are not approved for commercial sale and might not ever
receive regulatory approval or become commercially viabie.

All of our potential cancer immunotherapies and oncolytic virus therapies are in research and develop-
ment. We have not generated any revenues from the sale of products. We do not expect to generate any
revenues from product sales for at least the next several years. Our products currently under development will
require significant additional research and developmeat efforts, including extensive preclinical and clinical
testing and regulatory approval, prior to commercial use. Qur research and development efforts may not be
successful, and any of our future products may not be ultimately commercially successful. Even if developed,
our products may not receive regulatory approval or bz successfully introduced and marketed at prices that
would permit us to operate profitably.

Our cancer immunotherapies and oncolytic vivus therapies must undergo exhaustive clinical testing and
may not prove to be safe or effective. If any of our proposed products are delayed or fail, we may have to
curtail our operations.

There are many reasons that potential products that appear promising at an early stage of research or
development do not result in commercially successful products. Clinical trials may be suspended or terminated if
safety issues are identified, if our investigators or we fail ro comply with regulations governing clinical trials or for
other reasons. Although we and our investigators are t:sting some of our proposed products and therapies in
human clinical trials, we cannot guarantee that we, the FDA,, foreign regulatory authorities or the Institutional
Review Boards at our research institutions will not suspend or terminate any of our clinical trials, that we will be
permitted to undertake human clinical trials for any of our products or that adequate numbers of patients can be
recruited for our clinical trials. Also, the results of this testing might not demonstrate the safety or efficacy of
these products. Even if clinical trials are successful, we might rot obtain regulatory approval for any indication.
Preclinical and clinical data can be interpreted in many differeat ways, and FDA or foreign regulatory officials
could interpret data that we consider promising different y, which coitld halt or delay our clinical trials or prevent
regulatory approval. Finally, even if our products proceed successfully through clinical trials and receive
regulatory approval, there is no guarantee that an approved product can be manufactured in commercial
quantities at reasonable cost or that such a product will be successfully marketed.

Our programs utilize new technologies. Existing preclinical and clinical data on. the safety and efficacy of
our programs are limited. Our GVAX cancer immunotherapies and oncolytic virus therapies are currently being
tested in human clinical trials to determine their safety and efficacy. The results of preclinical or earlier stage
clinical trials do not necessarily predict safety or efficacy in humans. Our products in later stage clinical trials
may fail to show desired safety and efficacy, despite having progressed through preclinical or early clinical trials.
Serious and potentially life-threatening side effects may be discovered during preclinical and clinical testing of
our potential products or thereafter, which could delay, halt or interrupt clinical trials of our products, and could
result in the FDA or other regulatory authorities denyiig approval of our drugs for any or all indications.

Clinical trials are very costly and time-consuminy, especially the typically larger Phase 3 clinical trials
such as the VITAL-1 and VITAL-2 trials of our GVAX immmunotherapy for prostate cancer. The VITAL-1
and VITAL-2 trials of our GVAX immunotherapy for prostats cancer are our first Phase 3 clinical trials. We
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cannot exactly predict if and when any of our current clinical trials w111 be completed. Many factors affect
patient enrollment in clinical trials, including the size of the patient populatlon the proximity of patients to
clinical sites, the eligibility criteria for the trial, competing clinical tnals‘ and new therapies approved for the
conditions that we are investigating. In addition to delays in patient enrollment, other unforeseen develop-
ments, including delays in obtaining regulatory approvals to commenc}e a study, delays in identifying and
reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective clinical trial sites, lack of effectiveness during
clinical trials, unforeseen safety issues, uncertain dosing issues, inability to monitor patients adequately during
or after treatment, our or our investigators’ failure to comply with FDA or other health authority regulations
governing clinical trials, and an inability or unwillingness of medical| 1nvest1gators to follow our clinical
protocols, could prevent or delay completion of a clinical trial and i 1ncrease its costs, which could also prevent
or delay any eventual commercial sale of the therapy that is the subject of the trial. Each of our two Phase 3
clinical trials of GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer involves a conTlparison to a Taxotere chemotherapy
regimen, which is the currently approved standard of care for this patiejnt group. However, there can be no
assurance that this chemotherapy regimen will continue to be commonly used to treat these patients in the
future. Should another chemotherapy regimen be shown to be more effecftive than the Taxotere chemotherapy
regimen, we may need to conduct additional comparative clinical trials in the future.

We have not been profitable absent the gains on sales of Abgenix common stock and certain upfront or
non-recurring license fees. We expect to continue to incur substantial losses and negative cash flow from

operations and may not become profitable in the future.

We have incurred an accumulated deficit since our inception. At December 31, 2005, our accumulated
deficit was $308.9 million. Our accumulated deficit would be substantiz:ﬂly higher absent the gains we have
realized on sales of our Abgenix common stock. For the year ended Decefnber 31, 2005, we recorded a net loss
of $64.9 million. We expect to incur substantial operating losses for at least the next several years and
potentially longer. This is due primarily to the expansion of devclopmcnt programs, clinical trials and
manufacturing activities and, to a lesser extent, general and administrative expenses, at a time when we have

|
yet to realize any product revenues. We also have substantial lease obligations related to our manufacturing

and headquarter facilities. We expect that losses will fluctuate from
fluctuations may be substantial. We cannot guarantee that we will
commercialize or market any products, or that we will ever achieve pro

quarter to quarter and that these
successfully develop, manufacture,
fitability.

We will need substantial additional funds to continue operations, and our ability to generate funds

depends on many factors beyond our control.

We will need substantial additional funds for existing and planned preclinical and clinical trials, to

continue research and development activities, for lease obligations

headquarter facilities, for principal and interest payments related to

potential settlements to the IRS and other tax authorities and to esta
products we may develop. At some point in the future, we will also need
fund our operations.

In July 2005, the IRS issued to us a Notice of Proposed Adjustm

related to our manufacturing and

our debt financing obligations, for
blish marketing capabilities for any
to raise additional capital to further

ent (“NOPA”) seeking to disallow

$48.7 million of net operating losses which we deducted for the 2000 fiscal year and seeking a $3.4 million
penalty for substantial underpayment of tax in fiscal 2000. We responded to the NOPA in September 2005,
disagreeing with the conclusions reached by the IRS in the NOPA and seekmg to resolve this matter at the

Appeals level. We had previously recorded a liability for this and other
including estimated interest expense. If we are unsuccessful in defending
previously taken, then potentially our liability for federal and state tax

federal and state tax contingencies,
the tax filing positions that we have
contingencies could be significantly

higher than the $32.6 million that we have recorded as of December 31, 2@05. We continue to believe that our
tax positions comply with all applicable tax laws, and we continue to vigorously defend against the NOPA
using all administrative and legal processes available to us.
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Our future capital requirements will depend on, and cculd increase as a result of, many factors, such as:

« the progress and scope of our internally funded research, development, clinical, manufacturing and
commercialization activities;

* our ability to establish new collaborations and +he terras of those collaborations;

» our ability to reach a favorable resolution with the [RS with respect to their audit of our fiscal 2000
federal tax return, or to other potential tax assessments;

+ competing technological and market developments;
» the time and cost of regulatory approvals;

« the extent to which we choose to commerciclize our future products through our own sales and
marketing capabilities;

+ the costs we incur in obtaining, defending and ¢nforcing patent and other proprietary rights or gaining
the freedom to operate under the patents of others;

 our success in acquiring and integrating complzmentary products, technologies or businesses; and

» the extent to which we choose to expand «nd develop our manufacturing capacities, including
manufacturing capacities necessary to meet potential commercial requirements.

If adequate funds are not available, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate one or
more of our research, development, manufacturing or clinical activities.

We plan to raise additional funds through collabovative business relationships, additional equity or debt
financings, or otherwise, but we may not be able to do any of the foregoing on favorable terms, or at all.

Because of our long-term capital requirements, we may seek to access the public or private debt and
equity markets and/or sell our own debt or equity securitics. Additional funding may not be available to us,
and, if available, may not be on acceptable terms. Opportunities for outlicensing technologies or for third-party
collaborations may not be available to us on acceptable: terras, or at all. If adequate funds are not available, we
may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or :liminate one or more of our research, development,
manufacturing or clinical activities. In addition, we muy decidle to raise additional capital when conditions are
favorable, even when we do not have an immediate need for additional capital at that time. If we raise
additional funds by issuing equity securities, stockholiers will incur immediate dilution.

Alternatively, we may need to seek funds through arrangzments with collaborative partners or others that
require us to relinquish rights to technologies or product candidates that we would otherwise seek to develop or
commercialize ourselves. Either of these events could 1ave a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition or cash flow. Currentlv, we do not have collaborative partners for the further
development of our GVAX cancer immunotherapies. Although we are in active discussions with potential
partners for our GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer, we may not be successful in entering into
collaborative partnerships on favorable terms, if at all. Certain of our oncolytic virus therapy products are
being developed under our global strategic alliance with Novartis, and Novartis has future commercialization
rights for these products. Also, we can give no assurance that our alliance with Novartis will continue, as
Novartis periodically has the option of terminating the alliance at its discretion. We announced in 2005 the
development of a novel technology for the productior. of monoclonal antibody products which is outside our
core business focus and which therefore may represen:. an outlicensing opportunity. There can be no assurance
that we will be successful in our efforts to raise capital through such outlicensing activities. Failure to enter
into new corporate relationships may limit our future success.
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We plan to use potential future operating losses and our federal and ‘\state net operating loss
carryforwards to offset taxable income from revenue generated from operations or from the sale of
Abgenix common stock. However, our ability to use net operating loss carryforwards could be limited as
a result of potential future issuances of equity securities. \

We plan to use our current year operating losses to offset taxable ‘income from any revenue generated
from operations, corporate collaborations or from the sale of Abgenix common stock. To the extent that our
taxable income exceeds any current year operating losses, we plan to use“ our net operating loss carryforwards
to offset income that would otherwise be taxable. However, our use of federal net operating loss carryforwards
could be limited in the future by the provisions of Section 382 of the Int:emal Revenue Code depending upon
the timing and amount of additional equity securities that we might potentially issue. State net operating loss

carryforwards may be similarly limited. }

Our ability to manufacture our products is uncertain, which may delay or impair our ability to develop,
test and commercialize our products. |

We have built our own manufacturing facility to operate acco{rding to the FDA’s current Good
Manufacturing Practices (cGMP) regulations for the manufacture of proﬁucts for clinical trials and to support
the potential commercial launch of our GVAX cancer immunothérap};f product candidates. We are under
significant lease obligations for our manufacturing facility. We may be unable to establish and maintain our
manufacturing facility for increased scale within our planned timelinejs and budget, which could have a
material adverse effect on our product development timelines. Our manufacturing facility will be subject to
ongoing, periodic inspection by the FDA and other regulatory bodies to ensure compliance with cGMP. Our
failure to follow and document our adherence to such cGMP regulations or other regulatory requirements may
lead to significant delays in the availability of products for commercial use or clinical study, may result in the
termination or hold on a clinical study, or may delay or prevent filing or approval of marketing applications for
our products. We also may encounter problems with the following:

» achieving consistent and acceptable production yield and costs;
« meeting product release specifications;

« shortages of qualified personnel,

+ shortages of raw materials;

» shortages of key contractors or contract manufacturers; and

« ongoing compliance with cGMP regulations and other expectatiéns from FDA and other regulatory
bodies.

Failure to comply with applicable regulations could also result in sanctions being imposed on us,
including fines, injunctions, civil penalties, failure of regulatory authorities to grant marketing approval of our
products, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of products,

operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could harm our business.

|
Developing advanced manufacturing techniques and process controls is required to fully utilize our

facility. The manufacturing techniques and process controls, as well as\ the product release specifications,
required for our GVAX cancer immunotherapies and oncolytic virus tHerapies are more complex and less
well-established than those required for other biopharmaceutical prc1>ducts, including small molecules,
therapeutic proteins and monoclonal antibodies. We may not be able to develop these techniques and process
controls to manufacture and evaluate our products effectively to meet tbe demands of regulatory agencies,
clinical testing and commercial production. Advances in manufacturing tcc;:hniques may render our facility and

equipment inadequate or obsolete. .
\

In addition, during the course of the development and testing of oujr products, we may make and have

made improvements to processes, formulations or manufacturing methods‘l or employ different manufacturing
facilities. Such changes may be made to improve the product’s potential efficacy, make it easier to

18

\
1




manufacture at scale, reduce variability or the chance cf contamination of the product, or for other reasons. As
a result, certain of the products we are currently testing ia clinical trials, including our most advanced
products, are not identical to those used in previous cl nical trials from which we have reported clinical data.
We may be required to conduct certain laboratory studies to demonstrate the comparability of our products if
we introduce additional manufacturing changes. We annot guarantee that the results of studies using the
current versions of our products will be as successful as the results of earlier studies conducted using different
versions of our products.

If we are unable to manufacture our products for any reason, our options for outsourcing manufacturing
are currently limited. We are unaware of available contract manufacturing facilities on a worldwide basis in
which our GVAX product candidates can be manufactured under cGMP regulations, a requirement for all
pharmaceutical products. It would take a substantial period of time for a contract manufacturing facility that
has not been producing our particular products to beg n prodicing them under cGMP regulations.

Our manufacturing facility is subject to the licensing requirements of the United States Drug Enforce-
ment Administration (DEA), the California Department of Health Services and foreign regulatory authori-
ties. While not yet subject to license by the FDA, our facility is subject to inspection by the FDA, as well as by
the DEA and the California Department of Health Services. Failure to obtain or maintain these licenses or to
meet the inspection criteria of these agencies would disrupt our manufacturing processes and have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, fizancial condition and cash flow.

In order to produce our products in the quantities: that we believe will be required to meet anticipated
market demand, we will need to increase, or “scale up,” the production process by a significant factor over the
current level of production. If we are unable to do so, are delayed, or if the cost of this scale up is not
economically feasible for us, we may not be able to prcduce our products in a sufficient quantity to meet the
requirements for product launch or future demand. Logistical arrangements for wide-spread distribution of our
products for clinical and commercial purposes may prove to be impractical or prohibitively expensive which
could hinder our ability to commercialize our products.

We depend on clinical trial arrangements with public and private medical institutions to advance our
technology, and the loss of these arrangements coula impair the development of our products.

We have arrangements with a number of public and private medical institutions, and individual
investigators, for the conduct of human clinical trials ‘or our GVAX cancer immunotherapy programs and
oncolytic virus therapies. In some cases, trials may be conducted by institutions without our direct control or
monitoring. The early termination of any of these cliniczl trial arrangements, the failure of these institutions to
comply with the regulations and requirements governing clinical trials, or reliance upon results of trials that we
have not directly conducted or monitored could hinder the progress of our clinical trial programs or our
development decisions. If any of these relationships are terminated, the clinical trials might not be completed,
and the results might not be evaluable. '

Failure to comply with foreign vegulatory requiremerts governing human clinical trials and marketing
approval for drugs and devices could prevent us from conducting our clinical trials or selling our
products in foreign markets, which may adversely afi'ect our operating results and financial condition.

For development and marketing of drugs and biologics outside the United States, the requirements
governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licersing, pricing and reimbursement vary greatly from
country to country and may require us to perform additional tesiing and expend additional resources. The time
required to obtain approvals outside the United States may differ from that required to obtain FDA approval.
We may not obtain foreign regulatory approvals on a t mely basis, if at all. Approval by the FDA does not
ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries, and approval by one foreign regulatory authority
does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in otaer countries or by the FDA, Failure to comply with
these regulatory requirements or obtain required approvels could impair our ability to conduct clinical trials in
foreign markets or commercially develop foreign markets for our products and may have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
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If our proposed products ave not effectively protected by issued patenfs or if we are not otherwise able to
protect our proprietary information, we will be more vulnerable to competttors, and our business could be
adversely affected. a
|

We rely heavily on the development and protection of our intelle}ctual property portfolio. The patent
positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology firms, including ours, are generally uncertain and involve
complex legal and factual questions. As of December 31, 2005, we hadﬁapproximately 358 U.S. and foreign
patents issued or granted to us or available to us based on licensing arrangements and approximately 319 U.S.
and foreign applications pending in our name or available to us based on ‘licensing arrangements. Although we
are prosecuting patent applications, we cannot be certain whether any given application will result in the
issuance of a patent or, if any patent is issued, whether it will provide!significant proprietary protection or
whether it will be invalidated. Also, depending upon their filing date, paﬁent applications in the United States
are confidential until patents are published or issued. Publication of discoveries in scientific or patent literature
tends to lag behind actual discoveries by several months. Accordingly, we cannot be sure that we were the first
creator of inventions covered by pending patent applications or that we wére the first to file patent applications
for these inventions. In addition, to the extent we license our intellectual property to other parties, we may
incur expenses as a result of contractual agreements in which we inde‘mnify these licensing parties against

losses incurred if practicing our intellectual property infringes upon the‘nghts of others.
f

Our intellectual property and freedom to operate may be challenged by others, which, if such a challenge

were successful, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial

condition and cash flow. |

The patent positions and proprietary rights of pharmaceutical and bi}otechnology firms, including ours, are

generally uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. Ou“r commercial success depends in part
on not infringing the patents or proprietary rights of others, not breaching licenses granted to us and ensuring
that we have the necessary freedom to operate and commercialize our Iﬁroducts We are aware of competing
intellectual property relating to both our GVAX cancer immunotherapy and oncolytic virus therapy. While we
believe we have freedom to operate for both of these programs and are aware of no issued patents that could
prevent us from commercializing the products we are currently developmg, others may challenge that position,
and from time to time we have received communications from third parties claiming to have conflicting rights
relating to components of our products. We periodically review the stafus of our products in development in
response to these communications and more generally to ensure that We maintain freedom to operate with
respect all patents and proprietary rights of others. Nonetheless, if any su‘ch claim were successful, we could be
required to obtain licenses to a third party’s technologies or biological or chemical reagents in order to market
our products. Moreover, we may choose to voluntarily seek such a license in order to avoid the expense and
uncertainty of fully defending our position. In either such event, the failure to license any technologies or
biological or chemical reagents required to commercialize our technologies or products at reasonable cost may

have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, ﬁhancial condition and cash flow.
|

|

We may have to engage in litigation, which could result in substantial cost, to enforce our patents or to
determine the scope and validity of other parties’ proprietary rights.
|
. . . (

To determine the priority of inventions, the United States Patent and Trademark Office
(USPTO) frequently declares interference proceedings. In Europe, patents can be revoked through opposition
proceedings. These proceedings could result in an adverse decision as ‘to the priority of our inventions.

We are currently involved in an interference proceeding related to cj)ne of our technologies. We have filed
an appeal of the final decision from the USPTO relating to an interference proceeding pending since 1996
with Applied Research Systems Holding N.V. (ARS) concerning a pa{ltent and patent application related to
gene activation technology. ARS has also appealed the decision. The result of the appeal is uncertain at this
time. We are not currently involved in any other interference procecdmgs We were recently informed that one

of our patents for gene activation technology was denied in an appeal proceedlng in Europe, which adversely

20 |




affects our ability to receive royalties on sales of prolucts employmg this technology under certain of our
license agreements.

We cannot predict the outcome of these proceedings. An adverse result in any of these proceedings could
have an adverse effect on our intellectual property position in these areas and on our business as a whole. If we
lose in any such proceeding, our patents or patent applications that are the subject matter of the proceeding
may be invalidated or may not be permitted to issue as patents. Consequently, we may be required to obtain a
license from the prevailing party in order to continue the portion of our business that relates to the proceeding.
Such license may not be available to us on acceptable 1erms or on any terms, and we may have to discontinue
that portion of our business. We may be involved in other interference and/or opposition proceedings in the
future. We believe that there will continue to be signific ant litigation in the industry regarding patent and other
intellectual property rights.

Our competitive position may be adversely affected by our ltmzted ability to protect and control
unpatented trade secrets, know-how and other technological innovation.

Our competitors may independently develop similar or better proprietary information and techniques and
disclose them publicly. Also, others may gain access to our trade secrets, and we may not be able to
meaningfully protect our rights to our unpatented trace secrets.

We require our employees and consultants to exccute confidentiality agreements upon the commence-
ment of employment or consulting relationships with us. These agreements provide that all confidential
information developed by or made known to an individual during the course of the employment or consulting
relationship generally must be kept confidential. In the case of employees, the agreements provide that all
inventions relating to our business conceived by the employee while employed by us are our exclusive property.
These agreements may not provide meaningful proteciion for our'trade secrets in the event of unauthorized
use or disclosure of such information.

Our competitors may develop therapies for the disevses that we are targeting that are more advanced or
more effective than ours, which could adversely affect our competitive position, or they may
commercialize products move rapidly than we do, which may adversely affect our competitive position.

There are many companies pursuing programs for the treatment of cancer. Some of these competitors are
large biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, such as Amgen, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Genentech,
Novartis, Roche and sanofi-aventis Group, which hive greater. experience and resources than we do in
developing products, in undertaking preclinical testing and human clinical trials of new pharmaceutical
products, in obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals of products, and in manufacturing and marketing
new therapies. We are also competing with other tiotechnology companies which have prostate cancer
immunotherapy products in various stages of clinical development such as Dendreon Corporation, Therion
Biologics Corporation and Onyvax, Ltd.

Some competitors are pursuing product development strategies that are similar to ours, particularly with
respect to our cancer immunotherapy and oncolytic virus therapy programs. Certain of these competitors’
products are in more advanced stages of product development and clinical trials. We compete with other
clinical-stage companies and institutions for clinical trial participants, which could reduce our ability to recruit
participants for our clinical trials. Delay in recruiting clinical trial participants could adversely affect our
ability to bring a product to market prior to our competitors. Our competitors may develop technologies and
products that are more effective than ours, or that would render our technology and products less competitive
or obsolete.

Our competitive position and those of our competitors can va‘fy based on the performance of products in
clinical trials. In addition, our competitors may obtain patent protection or FDA or other regulatory approvals
and commercialize products more rapidly than we do, which may impact future sales of our products. We also
may not have the access that some of our competitor; have to biological materials necessary to support the
research, development or manufacturing of planned therapies. If we are permitted by the FDA or other
regulatory agencies to commence commercial sales of products, we will also be competing with respect to
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marketing capabilities and manufacturing efficiency, areas in which we|have limited or no experience. We
expect that competition among products approved for sale will be based, among other things, on:

» product efficacy;

*+ price;

» safety;

+ reliability;

» availability;

+ reimbursement;

* patent protection; and

« sales, marketing and distribution capabilities.

Our competitive position also depends upon our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel, develop
proprietary products or processes, and secure sufficient funding for the often- -lengthy period between product
conception and commercial sales.

To the extent we depend on strategic partners to sell, market or distribute our products, we will have
reduced control over the success of the sales, marketing and distribution of our future products.

We have no experience in sales, marketing or distribution of biopharmaceutical products. We may in the
future rely on sales, marketing and distribution expertise of potential corporate partners for our initial
products. The decision to market future products directly or through corporate partners will be based on a
number of factors, including: ;

1
» market size and concentration; \
|
» size and expertise of the partner’s sales force in a particular marl‘get; and
!
» our overall strategic objectives. i

If we choose to rely on strategic partners for the sale, marketing or diistribution of our future products, we
will have less control over the success of our products and will depend heavily upon our partners’ abilities and
dedication to our products. We cannot assure you that these future stratégic partnerships will be available on
favorable terms, if at all, nor can we assure you that they will enhance (;)ur business.

We may in the future be exposed to product liability claims, which could adversely affect our business,

\
results of operations, financial condition and cash flow. :
\

Clinical trials or marketing of any of our potential products may expose us to liability claims resulting
from the use of our products. These claims might be made by clinical triail participants and associated parties,
consumers, health care providers or sellers of our products. We currently maintain product liability insurance
with respect to each of our clinical trials. We may not be able to maintain insurance or obtain sufficient
coverage at a reasonable cost, given the increasing cost of insurance in to:day’s insurance market. An inability
to maintain insurance at an acceptable cost, or at all, could result in a br;each of terms of our product license
agreements or could prevent or inhibit the clinical testing or commercialization of our products or otherwise
affect our financial condition. A claim, particularly resuiting from a clinical trial, on any of our insurance
policies or a product recall could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial

condition and cash flow.

Our business, financial condition and results of operations could suffer as a result of future strategic
acquisitions and investments.
We may engage in future acquisitions or investments that could dllute our existing stockholders or cause

us to incur contingent liabilities, commitments, debt or significant expense From time to time, in the ordinary
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course of business, we may evaluate potential acquisitions or investments in related businesses, products or
technologies, although we currently have no commitments or agreements for any such acquisitions or
investments. We may not be successful with any strategic acquisition or investment. Any future acquisition or
investment could harm our business, financial conditicn and results of operations.

If we engage in future acquisitions, we may not he able to fully integrate the acquired companies and
their intellectual property or personnel. Our attempts to do.so may place additional burdens on our
management and infrastructure. Future acquisitions w.1l also subject us to a number of risks, including:

* the loss of key personnel and business relationships;

+ difficulties associated with assimilating and iitegrating the new personnel and operations of the
acquired companies;

» the potential disruption of our ongoing business;

» the expense associated with maintenance of diverse standards, controls, procedures, employees and
clients; ‘ ‘

+ the diversion of resources from the developmer.t of our own propﬁetary technology; and

« our inability to generate revenue from acquired technology sufficient to meet our objectives in
undertaking the acquisition or even to offset th2 associated acquisition and maintenance costs.

Our operations are vulnerable to interruption by firc, earthquake, power loss, telecommunications failure,
terrorist activity and other events beyond our contro!, which could vesult in a material adverse effect on
our business.

Our facilities in California have, in the past, been subject to electrical blackouts as a result of a shortage
of available electrical power. Future blackouts could disrupt the operations of our facilities. In addition, we do
not carry sufficient business interruption insurance to compensate s for actual losses from interruption of our
business that may occur, and any losses or damages incurred by us could have a material adverse effect on our
business. We are vulnerable to a major earthquake and other calamities. Most of our facilities are located in
seismically active regions. We have not undertaken a s;/stematic analysis of the potential consequences to our
business and financial results from a major earthquake and do not have a recovery plan for fire, earthquake,
power loss, terrorist activity or similar disasters. We are unable to predict the effects of any such event, but the
effects could be seriously harmful to our business.

We depend on our key technical and management personnel to advance our technology, and the loss of
these personnel could impair the development of our products.

We rely and will continue to rely on our key management and scientific staff, all of whom are employed
at-will. The loss of key personnel or the failure to recru't necessary additional qualified personnel could have a
material adverse effect on our business and results ol operations. There is intense competition from other
companies, research and academic institutions and other organizations for qualified personnel. We may not be
able to continue to attract and retain the qualified personnel necessary for the development of our business.
We will need to continue to recruit experts in the areas of clinical testing, manufacturing, finance, marketing
and distribution and to develop additional expertise in cur existing personnel. If we do not succeed in
recruiting necessary personnel or developing this expeitise, our business could suffer significantly.

Various materials that we use are purchased from single qualified suppliers, which could result in our
inability to secure sufficient materials to conduct our business.

Most of the materials which we purchase for use ir. our manufacturing operations are subject to a supplier
qualification program. In the event that we or the supplier deems the proffered material or the supplier no
longer appropriate to support our cGMP operations, we may face significant additional expenses to find and
qualify alternate materials and/or suppliers. Depending on the magnitude of the potential difference between
materials and/or suppliers currently used and alternatz materials ‘and/or suppliers which may be identified,
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there is no guarantee that FDA or other health authorities will deem the alternative materials and/or suppliers
to be comparable, which may require us to perform additional and/ or‘ extended clinical studies and could
delay product approval.

Some of the materials which we purchase for use in our manufacturing operations are sole-sourced,
meaning only one known supplier exists. In the event of a significant interruption of sole-sourced supplies, the
quantity of our inventory may not be adequate to complete our clinical trials or to launch our potential

products.

Inventions or processes discovered by our outside scientific collaborators may not become our property,
which may affect our competitive position,

We rely on the continued availability of outside scientific collaborators performing research. These
relationships generally may be terminated at any time by the collaborator typically by giving 30 days notice.
These scientific collaborators are not our employees. As a result, we have limited control over their activities
and can expect that only limited amounts of their time will be dedlcated to our activities. Our arrangements
with these collaborators, as well as those with our scientific consultants, prov1de that any rights we obtain as a
result of their research efforts will be subject to the rights of the researcr‘r institutions for which they work. In
addition, some of these collaborators have consulting or other advisory arrangements with other entities that
may conflict with their obligations to us. For these reasons, inventions or processes discovered by our screntrﬁc
collaborators or consultants may not become our property.

The prices of our common stock and convertible senior notes are lzkely to continue to be volatile in the

Juture. |

The stock prices of biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companres including ours, have historically
been highly volatile. Since January 1, 2003, our stock price has ﬂuctuated between a high closing price of
$15.93 on March 4, 2004 and a low closing price of $4.48 on October 12 2005. The market has from time to
time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that are unrelated to the operating performance of
particular companies. In addition, as our convertible senior notes are convertible into shares of our common

stock, volatility or depressed prices of our common stock could have a sinllilar effect on the trading price of the
notes. Also, interest rate fluctuations can affect the price of our convertible senior notes. The following factors,

among others, may affect the prices of our common stock and notes:

+ announcements of data from, or material developments in, our clinical trials or those of our
competitors, including delays in the commencement, progress or completion of a clinical trial;

« fluctuations in our financial results;

+ the potential of an unfavorable future resolution with the IRS with respect to their audit of our fiscal
2000 federal tax return, or to other potential tax assessments;

» announcements of technological innovations or new therapeutic products by us or our competitors,

including innovations or products by our competitors that may require us to redesign, and therefore
delay, our clinical trials to account for those innovations or products;

» announcements of changes in governmental regulation affecting us or our competitors;

» announcements of regulatory approval or disapproval of our or our competitors’ products;
» announcements of new collaborative relationships by us or our competitors;
 developments in patent or other proprietary rights affecting us or our competitors;

+ public concern as to the safety of products developed by us or other biotechnology and pharmaceutical
companies;

» general market conditions;

+ material developments related to our minority interest in Ceregejne, Inc;

24




+ fluctuations in price and volume in the stock market in.general, or in the trading of the stock of
biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies in particular, that are unrelated to our operating
performance;

+ issuances of securities in equity, debt or otier financings or issuances of common stock upon
conversion of our convertible senior notes;

» unforeseen litigation;
» sales of common stock by existing stockholders; and

+ the perception that such issuances or sales cou d occur.

Our stockholders may be diluted by the conversion cf outstanding convertible senior notes.

In October and November 2004 we issued and sold $145.0 million aggregate principal amount of notes
which are convertible into our common stock, initially at the conversion price of $9.10 per share, equal to a
conversion rate of approximately 109.8901 shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes, subject to adjustment.
The holders of the notes may choose at any time to convert their notes into common stock. The number of
shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes, and therefore the dilution of existing common
stockholders, could increase as a result of an event trizgering the“antidilut'ion rights of the notes, including
certain acquisitions of the Company in which 10% or more cf the consideration paid for our common stock in
the transaction is in the form of cash or securities that are not freely tradable. Conversion of our convertible
senior notes would result in issuance of additional shares of common stock, diluting existing common
stockholders.

Our stockholders may be diluted, or our common stock price may be adversely affected, by the exercise
of outstanding stock options or other issuances of our common stock.

We may issue additional common stock, preferred stock, or securities convertible into or exchangeable for
our common stock. Furthermore, substantially all sharcs of common stock for which our outstanding stock
options are exercisable are, once they have been purchased, eligible for immediate sale in the public market.
The issuance of common stock, preferred stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for our common
stock or the exercise of stock options would dilute existir g investors and could adversely affect the price of our
common stock.

We have adopted anti-takeover defenses that could make it difficult for another company to acquire
control of us or could limit the price investors might be willing to pay for our stock.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, debt instruments and Delaware law could
make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders. These
provisions include the adoption of a Stockholder Rights Plan, commonly known as a “poison pill.” Under the
Stockholder Rights Plan, we made a dividend distribution of one preferred share purchase right for each share
of our common stock outstanding as of August 21, 1995 und each share of our common stock issued after that
date. In July 2000, we made certain technical changes tc amend the plan and extended the term of such plan
until 2010. The rights are exercisable only if an acquirer purchases 15 percent or more of our common stock or
announces a tender offer for 15 percent or more of our common stock. Upon exercise, holders other than the
acquirer may purchase our stock at a discount. Our Boa-d of Directors may terminate the rights plan at any
time or under certain circumstances redeem the rights. Because the rights may substantially dilute the stock
ownership of a person or group attempting to take us ove: without the approval of our Board of Directors, the
plan could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us (or a significant percentage of our outstanding
capital stock) without first negotiating with our Board of Directors regarding such acquisition. These
provisions and certain provisions of the Delaware Generel Corporation Law may have the effect of deterring
hostile takeovers or otherwise delaying or preventing changes in our management or in the control of our
company, including transactions in which our stockholders might otherwise receive a premium over the fair
market value of our common stock.
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Due to the potential value of our strategic investments, we could be determmed to be an investment
company, and if such a determination were made, we would become subject to significant regulation that
would adversely affect our business. [

Our non-controlling position in Ceregene, along with investments| of our available cash resources in
certain types of fixed-income securities, could be considered “investment securities” under the Investment
Company Act of 1940, raising a question of whether we are an investment| company required to register and be
regulated under the Investment Company Act. Regulation under the Investment Company Act, or a
determination that we failed to register when required to do so, could{materially and adversely affect our
business. We believe that we are primarily engaged in the research, dc&elopment and commercialization of
biological cancer therapies and that any investment securities are ancﬂlary to our primary business.
Nevertheless, possible required dispositions of non-controlling 1nvestments could adversely affect our future
reported results. J}

|
If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we maj) not be able to accurately report
our financial results, maintain investor confidence or prevent fraud. {

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports, maintain investor
confidence and prevent fraud. As our operations have grown, as well as part of our examination of our internal
systems in response to Sarbanes-Oxley requirements, we have discovere:d in the past, and may in the future
discover, areas of our internal controls that could be improved. None of these issues have risen to the level that
we were unable to attest to the effectiveness of our internal controls whén we were required to do so. During
fiscal 2005, we took a number of steps to improve our internal controls. Although we believe that all of these
efforts have strengthened our internal controls, we continue to work to improve our internal controls. We
cannot be certain that these measures will ensure that we implement and maintain adequate controls over our
financial processes and reporting in the future. Any failure to implement requ1red new or improved controls, or

difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm our operatmg results or cause us to fail to meet
our reporting obligations. Inferior internal controls could also cause 1nvestors to lose confidence in our reported
financial information, which could have a negative effect on the tradmg price of our common stock.
f

Recent accounting pronouncements will impact our future results of bperations

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or, FASB, issued a revision of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123, or SFAS 123R, which requires all share based payments to employees and
directors, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on their
values. We expect to calculate the value of share-based payments undefr SFAS 123R on a basis substantially
consistent with the fair value approach of SFAS 123. We will adopt SFAS 123R in our fiscal quarter
beginning January 1, 2006, using the modified prospective method. We expect the adoption of SFAS 123R
will have a material impact on our results of operations in that fiscal quarter and in each subsequent quarter,
although it will have no impact on our overall liquidity. We cannot reasonably estimate the impact of adoption
because it will depend on levels of share-based payments granted in thé future as well as certain assumptions
that can materially affect the calculation of the value share-based payments to employees and directors.
However, had we adopted SFAS 123R in prior periods, the impact of the standard would have approximated
the impact of SFAS 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net loss and pro forma loss per common
share in Note I of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements mcluded under ltem 8 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. The adoption of SFAS 123R may affect the way we compensate our employees or may cause
other changes in the way we conduct our business.
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Risks Related to Our Industry

In order for our products to be offered to the public, tiiey must undergo extensive clinical testing and
receive approval from the FDA and other regulatory agencies, which could delay or prevent the
commercialization of our products.

Human therapeutic products must undergo rigorous preclinical and clinical testing and other premarket
approval procedures by the FDA and similar authoriiies in foreign countries. Preclinical tests include
laboratory evaluation of potential products and animal studies to assess the potential safety and efficacy of the
product and its formulations. Initiation of clinical trials requires approval by health authorities. Clinical trials
involve the administration of the investigational new diug to healthy volunteers or to patients under the
supervision of a qualified principal investigator. Clinical trials raust be conducted in accordance with FDA and
ICH Good Clinical Practices and the European Clinical Trial Directive under protocols that detail the
objectives of the study, the parameters to be used to moritor safety and the efficacy criteria to be evaluated.
Other national, foreign and local regulations may alsc apply. The developer of the drug must provide
information relating to the characterization and controls of the product before administration to the patients
participating in the clinical trials. This requires developing approved assays of the product to test before
administration to the patient and during the conduct of the trial. In addition, developers of pharmaceutical
products must provide periodic data regarding clinical tria s to the FD'A and other health authorities, and these
health authorities or our Independent Data Monitoring Comrnittees may issue a clinical hold upon a trial if
they do not believe, or cannot confirm, that the trial can be conducted without unreasonable risk to the trial
participants. We cannot assure you that U.S. and foreign health authorities will not issue a clinical hold with
respect to any of our clinical trials in the future. The rosults of the preclinical testing and clinical testing,
together with chemistry, manufacturing and controls info:mation, are submitted to the FDA and other health
authorities in the form of a new drug application for a pharmaceutical product, and in the form of a biologics
license application for a biological product, requesting approval to commence commercial sales.

In responding to a new drug application or a bioloyics license application, the FDA or foreign health
authorities may grant marketing approvals, request additional information or further research, or deny the
application if it determines that the application does no: satisfy its regulatory approval criteria. Regulatory
approval of a new drug application, biologics license application, or supplement is never guaranteed, and the
approval process can take several years and is extremely expensive. The FDA and foreign health authorities
have substantial discretion in the drug and biologics :pproval processes. Despite the time and expense
incurred, failure can occur at any stage, and we could er counter problems that cause us to abandon clinical
trials or to repeat or perform additional preclinical, clinical or manufacturing-related studies. Approvals may
not be granted on a timely basis, if at all, and if granted r ay not cover all the clinical indications for which we
may seek approval. Also, an approval might contain signif cant limitations in the form of warnings, precautions
or contraindications with respect to conditions of use.

Even if our products are approved by regulatory authovities, if we. fail to comply with ongoing regulatory
requirements, or if we experience unanticipated problems with our products, these products could be
subject to vestrictions or withdrawal from the market.

Any product for which we obtain marketing approval, along with the manufacturing processes, post-
approval pre-clinical, manufacturing, clinical and safety cata and promotional activities for such product, will
be subject to continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory bodies. Even if
regulatory approval of a product is granted, the approval may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for
which the product may be marketed or contain requirements for costly post-marketing testing and surveillance
to monitor the safety or efficacy of the product. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with our
products including unanticipated adverse events of un:nticipated severity or frequency, manufacturer or
manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in restrictions on such
products or manufacturing processes, withdrawal of the products from the market, voluntary or mandatory
recall, fines, suspension of regulatory approvals, product seizures or detention, injunctions or the imposition of
civil or criminal penalties.
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We are subject to federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations, and complying with these may
cause us to incur significant costs.

We are subject to laws and regulations enforced by the FDA, the DEA, the California Department of
Health Services, foreign health authorities and other regulatory statutes including:

+ the Occupational Safety and Health Act;

« the Environmental Protection Act;

+ the Toxic Substances Control Act;

» the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act;

+ the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act; and

» other current and potential federal, state, local or foreign laws|and regulations.

In particular with respect to environmental laws, product development activities involve the use of
hazardous materials, and we may incur significant costs as a result of the need to comply with these laws. Our
research, development and manufacturing activities involve the co}ntrolled use of hazardous materials,
chemicals, viruses and radioactive compounds. We are subject to federal, foreign, state and local laws and
regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and t%lisposal of these materials and waste

products. Although we believe that our safety procedures for handling a‘nd disposing of these materials comply

with the standards prescribed by applicable laws and regulations, we Qannot completely eliminate the risk of
contamination or injury, by accident or as the result of intentional acts of terrorism, from these materials. In
the event of an accident, we could be held liable for any damages that|result, and any resulting liability could
exceed our resources. We do not carry insurance for potential exposur;es which could result from these risks.
We may also be required to incur significant costs to comply with environmental laws and regulations in the

future.

Reimbursement from third-party payers may become more rvestricted in the future, which may reduce
demand for our products.

There is uncertainty related to the extent to which third-party payers will cover and pay for newly
approved therapies. Sales of our future products will be influenced by the willingness of third-party payers to

provide reimbursement. In both domestic and foreign markets, sales o;f our potential products will depend in
part upon coverage and payment amounts from third-party payers, including:

¢ government agencies;
« private health care insurers and other health care payers such as/health maintenance organizations; and

+ self-insured employee plans.

There is considerable pressure to reduce the cost of biotechnology and pharmaceutical products.
Reimbursement from government agencies, insurers and large hea}th organizations may become more
restricted in the future. Our potential products represent a new mode|of therapy, and while the cost-benefit

ratio of the products may be favorable, we expect that the costs fassociated with our products will be
substantial. Qur proposed products, if successfully developed, may noﬂ be considered cost-effective by third-
party payers. Insurance coverage might not be provided by third-party, payers at all or may be provided only
after substantial delay. Even if such coverage is provided, the approved third-party payment amounts might

not be sufficient to permit widespread acceptance of our products.
The continuing efforts of governmental and third-party payers to contain or reduce the costs of
healthcare may impair our future revenues and profitability.

The pricing of our future products may be influenced in part by|government controls. For example, in
certain foreign markets, pricing or profitability of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to government
control. In the United States, there have been, and we expect that there will continue to be, a number of
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federal and state proposals to implement more rigorous rovisions relating to government payment levels.
While we cannot predict whether the government will adcpt any such legislative or regulatory proposals, the
announcement or adoption of these proposals could have « material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flow. ‘

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We maintain our corporate headquarters in South San Francisco, California, we have a ¢cGMP
manufacturing facility in Hayward, California designed to produce one or more types of products at a scale
suitable for Phase 3 trials and potential commercial market launch and we have a product distribution facility
in Memphis, Tennessce. We lease all of our facilities. ,

Our corporate headquarters facility consists of approximately 154,000 square feet of research and
development and administrative space. We moved to this location in March 2003 from our previous leased
facilities in Foster City, California. Our Hayward manufacturing facility, which consists of 51,000 square feet
of manufacturing space and 50,000 square feet of laboratory and office space, is currently producing our
GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer product. Qur 35,000 square-foot facility in Memphis, Tennessee is
a centrally located facility which we intend to use in the future as a centralized product distribution center.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Not applicable.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
‘ : . i .

Not applicable.




PART I “

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY “AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock trades on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “CEGE.” The following
table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing pﬁccs per share of our common stock as
reported by the Nasdaq National Market. We did not declare or pay any cash dividends with respect to our
common stock during any of the periods indicated below.

Year Ended December 31, 2005:

\l _High  Low
First QUATter. .. ..ottt e $776 § 453
Second QUarter ...t ]\ ............ 6.48 4.50
Third Quarter........... ... 6.53 5.36
Fourth QUArter . . ... oottt e e RN 6.52 4.48
Year Ended December 31, 2004: ‘ _High _Low
First QUATTEr. . ..o ottt ettt e b $1593  $11.03
Second Quarter ........ e \\ ............ 12.98 9.43
Third QUarter . ... ..ttt e \ ............ 10.40 6.61
Fourth Quarter. ... ..o it i i i i 1 ............ 9.34 6.38

As of January 31, 2006, there were approximately 660 holders\gof record and approximately 32,000
beneficial holders of our common stock. On February 28, 2006, the last reported sales price on the Nasdaq
National Market for our common stock was $7.04. The market for our common stock is highly volatile.

We did not repurchase any shares of our equity securities during the year ended December 31, 2005.
|

|
The information required by this item regarding equity compensation plans is incorporated by reference
to the information set forth in Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial information has beea derived from the audited consolidated financial
statements. The information set forth below is not necessurily indicative of results of future operations, and
should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Managemeni’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included in
Item 8 of this Form 10-K in order to fully understand factors that may affect the comparability of the
information presented below. ‘
Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue ..., $ 4,564 § 11,458 § 18,128 § 39,141 § 28317
Total operating expenses .................. 111,07 110,061 111,276 95,649 30,644
Gain on sale of Abgenix, Inc. common stock 55,123 12,160 12,638 2,246 _—
Net 0SS v e (64,939)  (97,411)  (56,406)  (26,599) (28,673)
Net loss attributed to common stockholders .. (64,543)  (97,511)  (56,636)  (27,301)  (29,458)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share (143) (2.23) (1.48) (0.76) (0.835)

December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments, including restricted cash

and investments . . .....ooviinnn.n. $ 129,598 $ 174971 § 160,288  $166,905  $258,649
Total assets ..............cvevnvvnnnn. 366,975 435,139 460,502 419,197 615,310
Total current Labilities .. ............... 69,335 77;923 94,296 76,353 149,690
Long-term obligations, excluding current |

portion ......... ... 52,093 51,013 146,634 104,064 60,000
Convertible seniornotes . ............... 145,00 145,000 — — —_
Redeemable convertible preferred stock. . . — 1,897 2,706 7,632 17,970
Accumulated deficit ................... (308,912) (243,973) (146,562)  (90,156)  (63,557)

Stockholders’ equity ........... .. .. ... 100,497 159,306 216,866 231,148 387,554
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 1OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS \

Statements made in this Item other than statements of historzca\{ fact, including statements about us and
our subsidiaries and our respective clinical trials, research programs,ﬂ product pipelines, current and potential
corporate partnerships, licenses and intellectual property, the adequacy of capital reserves and anticipated
operating results and cash expenditures, are forward-looking stazements within the meaning of Section 274 of
the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange\Act of 1934. As such, they are subject to
a number of uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ\materially from the statements made,
including risks associated with the success of research and product development programs, the issuance and
validity of patents, the development and protection of proprietary technologies, the ability to raise capital,
operating expense levels and the ability to establish and retain carpoirate partnerships. Reference is made to
discussions about risks associated with product development progran%s, intellectual property and other risks
which may affect us under Item 1A, “Risk Factors” above. We do not undertake any obligation to update
forward-looking statements. The following should be read in conjur\gction with our consolidated financial
statements located elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for L\the vear ended December 31, 2005 and

other documents filed by us from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Overview g
1

We are a biotechnology company focused on the development and\\commercialization of novel biological
therapies for patients with cancer. We are currently developing cell‘;based cancer immunotherapies and
oncolytic virus therapies to treat different types of cancer. Qur clinical s\tage cancer programs involve cell- or
viral-based products that have been genetically modified to impart dlsease fighting characteristics that are not
found in conventional chemotherapeutic agents. As part of our GVAX f:ancer immunotherapy programs, we
are conducting two Phase 3 clinical trials in prostate cancer and Phase 2 trials in each of pancreatic cancer and
leukemia. We initiated our Phase 3 clinical trials for GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer in July 2004
and June 2005, each under a Special Protocol Assessment (SPA) with the United States Food and Drug
Administration (FDA). In our oncolytic virus therapies program, wh1ch1 we are developing in part through a
global alliance with Novartis AG (Novartis), we initiated a Phase 1 cllmcal trial of CG0070 in recurrent
bladder cancer in April 2005. We also have other preclinical oncolytic virus therapy programs, including

CG5757, evaluating potential therapies for multiple types of cancer. \w

|

Critical Accounting Policies l

\

We consider certain accounting policies related to revenue recognit‘ion, income taxes and stock-based
compensation to be critical accounting policies. \
I

Revenue vecognition 0\

Our revenues are derived principally from research and licensing agreements with collaborators. Revenue
under such collaboration agreements typically includes upfront payments, cost reimbursements, milestone
payments and license fees. We evaluate whether the delivered element under these arrangements has value to
our customer on a stand-alone basis and whether objective and reliable evidence of fair value of the
undelivered item exists. Deliverables that do not meet these criteria are treated as one unit of accounting for
the purposes of revenue recognition. ‘\

Up-front payments: Up-front payments from our research collaborations include payments for technoi-
ogy transfer and access rights. Non-refundable upfront license fees and otber payments under collaboration
agreements where the Company continues involvement throughout development are deferred and recognized
on a straight-line or ratable method, unless we determine that another methodology is more appropriate.
During 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company recognized revenue from a non- réfundable upfront payment under
our global alliance with Novartis AG for the development of certain oncolync virus therapies based upon when
the underlying development expenses were incurred, rather than a ratable m~ethod as we determined that the
expense method was more appropriate for this agreement. The revenues recorded under the Novartis alliance

3 \1
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approximated the related development expenses that were incurred in the respective periods. The Company
recognizes cost reimbursement revenue under collaborative agreements as the related research and develop-
ment costs are incurred, as provided for under the terms of these agreements. Deferred revenue represents the
portion of upfront payments received that has not been eurned.

Milestones: Payments for milestones that are based on the achievement of substantive and at risk-
performance criteria are recognized in full upon achievement of the incentive milestone events in accordance
with the terms of the agreement. Incentive milestone payments are triggered either by the results of the
Company’s research efforts or by events external to the ‘Company, such as regulatory approval to market a
product or the achievement of specified sales levels by a riarketing partner. As such, the incentive milestones
are substantially at risk at the inception of the contract, and the amounts of the payments assigned thereto are
commensurate with the milestone achieved. Upon the achizvement of an incentive milestone event, the
Company has no future performance obligations related to that payment.

License fees: Non-refundable license fees where vwe have completed all future obligations are recog-
nized as revenue upon execution of the technology licensing agreement when delivery has occurred,
collectibility is reasonably assured and the price is fixed and determinable.

Income taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with the provision of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 109, or SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Ta:es”. SFAS 109 requires recognition of deferred taxes
to provide for temporary differences between financial reporting and ‘tax basis of assets and liabilities. Deferred
taxes are measured using enacted tax rates expected to be in effect in the year in which the basis difference is
expected to reverse. We record a valuation allowance against deferred income tax assets, when the realization
of such deferred income tax assets cannot be determin:d to be more likely than not.

The Company establishes accruals for tax contingencies when it believes that certain tax positions may be
challenged and that our positions may not be fully custained. The Company adjusts its tax contingency
accruals in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the progress of tax audits, case law and emerging
legislation. In July 2003, the IRS issued to the Company a Notice of Proposed Adjustment (“NOPA”)
seeking to disallow $48.7 million of net operating losses which were deducted for the 2000 fiscal year and
seeking a $3.4 million penalty for substantial underpayinent of tax in fiscal 2000. We responded to the NOPA
; in September 2005, disagreeing with the conclusions reached by the IRS in the NOPA and seeking to resolve

this matter at the Appeals level. We recorded a liability of $30.0 million for this and other federal and state tax
contingencies, including estimated interest expense, at December 31, 2004 and accrued an additional
( $2.6 million of interest related to these tax contingencies in 2005.

The nature of these tax matters is uncertain and siibject to change. As a result, the amount of our liability
for certain of these matters could exceed or be less than the amount of our current estimates, depending on the
outcome of these matters. If we are unsuccessful in defending the tax filing positions that were previously
taken, then potentially the hability for federal and stute tax contingencies could be significantly higher than
the $32.6 million that has been recorded as of December 31, 2005. An outcome of such matters different than
previously estimated could materially impact our financial position or results of operations in the year of
resolution. The Company continues to believe that its tax positions comply with all applicable tax laws, and
the Company continues to vigorously defend against the NOPA using all administrative and legal processes
available. ‘

Income tax benefits previously recorded have b:en based on a determination of deferred tax assets and
liabilities and any valuation allowances that might be required against these deferred tax assets. The Company
records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts that are more likely than not to be
realized. The Company has considered anticipated future taxable income, including taxable income from sales
of Abgenix common stock, and potential tax planning; strategies in assessing the need for valuation allowances.
Certain of these determinations require judgment on the part of management. If the Company determines that
it will be able to realize deferred tax assets in the future in excess of the carrying value of our net deferred tax
assets, adjustments to the deferred tax assets will increase income by reducing tax expense in the period that
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such determination is reached. Likewise, if the Company determines that it will not be able to realize all or
part of the carrying value of its net deferred tax assets in the future, adjustments to the deferred tax assets will
decrease income by increasing tax expense in the period that such determination is reached. Significant
estimates are required in determining our income tax benefits. Various internal and external factors may have
favorable or unfavorable effects on our future effective tax rate. These factors include, but are not limited to,
changes in tax laws and regulations, our future levels of spending for research and development, and changes
in our overall level of pre-tax earnings or losses. We expect to record a full valuation allowance against the
deferred tax asset in the first Quarter of 2006 due to the sale of our remaining 3.0 million shares of Abgenix,
Inc. common stock in January and February 2006, in addition to recording a tax provision related to the
realized gain on the sale of such shares.

Stock-based compensation

Our employee stock compensation plans are accounted for utilizing the intrinsic value method in
accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,”
and related interpretations. Under this method, no compensation expense is recognized as long as the exercise
price equals or exceeds the market price of the underlying stock on the date of the grant.

The preparation of our financial statement footnotes requires us to estimate the fair value of stock options
granted to employees. While fair value may be readily determinable for awards of stock, market quotes are not
available for long-term, nontransferable stock options because these instruments are not traded. We currently
use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of employee stock options. However, the
Black-Scholes model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options, which have no
vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Option valuation models require the input of highly subjective
assumptions, including the stock price volatility. Because our stock options have characteristics significantly
different from those of traded options and changes to the subjective input assumptions can materially affect
the fair value estimate, in management’s opinion, the existing models do not provide a reliable single measure
of the fair value of our employee stock options. We are currently evaluating our option valuation methodolo-
gies and assumptions in light of evolving accounting standards related to employee stock options.

Recently issued financial accounting standards

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued a revision of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123, or SFAS 123R, which requires all share-based payments to employees and
directors, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on their
values. We expect to calculate the value of share-based payments under SFAS 123R on a basis substantially
consistent with the fair value approach of SFAS 123. We will adopt SFAS 123R in our fiscal quarter
beginning January 1, 2006, using the modified prospective method. We expect the adoption of SFAS 123R
will have a material impact on our results of operations in that fiscal quarter and in each subsequent quarter,
although it will have no impact on our overall liquidity. We cannot reasonably estimate the impact of adoption
because it will depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the future as well as certain assumptions
that can materially affect the calculation of the value share-based payments to employees and directors.
However, had we adopted SFAS 123R in prior periods, the impact of the standard would have approximated
the impact of SFAS 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net loss and pro forma loss per common
share in Note { of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included under Item 8 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.
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Results of Operations
Revenue

Revenues were $4.6 million in 2005 compared to $.1.5 million in 2004 and $18.1 million in 2003, as
shown in the following table (in thousands):

2005 2004 2003
Novartis AG . oot $2,031 $ 5846 $ 2,104
Japan Tobacco Ime. .. ... . i — — 14,145
sanofi-aventis Group .. ...ttt i e 2,000 3,173 1,000
J Transkaryotic Therapies, Inc. .......... ... ... ... ... — 250 —
. Ceregene, Inc. (since August 4,2004) ....................... 69 998 —

OhEr . e 484 1,191 879
‘ $4,584  $11,458  $18,128

Revenues for 2005 included $2.0 million from Novertis recognized in connection with our global alliance
for the development and commercialization of oncolytic virus therapies. Previously under this alliance we
recognized $5.8 million of revenue in 2004 and $2.1 million in 2003. As of December 31, 2005 we have
recognized all revenues associated with the $28.5 million payment received from Novartis in July 2003.
Revenues for 2005 also included $2.0 million in conaection with our gene activation technology license
agreement with sanofi-aventis Group for gene activated erythropoietin, compared to revenues of $3.2 million
in 2004 and $1.0 million in 2003 under the same agreeraent. We recorded contract revenue of $1.0 miltion in
2004 for services provided to Ceregene after August 3, 2004, the date as of which our ownership of Ceregene
became a minority ownership position. We also recognized as other revenue in 2004 approximately
$1.0 million in grants received by Ceregene on their Alzheimer’s disease and ALS research projects during the
period it was a consolidated subsidiary.

In August 2003, we announced that an agreement had been reached regarding outstanding clinical and
patent-related milestone and wind down payments from Japan Tobacco Inc. (JT), in connection with the
termination in 2002 of a collaboration agreement for :ertain GVAX cancer immunotherapies, for which we
i now hold all worldwide commercial rights. We recorded $14.1 million in revenue associated with this final

agreement in 2003.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses were $92.4 million in 2005 compared to $92.1 million in 2004 and
$85.3 million in 2003. These increases can be attribated to our expanding clinical trials and other product
development activities in both our GVAX cancer ir munotherapy and oncolytic virus therapy programs. In
July 2004, we announced the commencement of our VITAL-1 trial, which compares GVAX prostate cancer
immunotherapy to Taxotere chemotherapy in patienrs with advanced prostate cancer without cancer-related
pain. In June 2005, we announced the commencement of our VITAL-2 trial, which compares GVAX prostate
cancer immunotherapy plus Taxotere chemotherapy to Taxotere chemotherapy alone in advanced prostate
cancer patients with cancer-related pain. We expect that our research and development expenditures and
headcount will increase in future years to support expanded, more advanced and more numerous clinical trials,
and associated manufacturing and product development activities. The rate of increase depends on a number
of factors, including progress in research and develcpment and clinical trials.

Biopharmaceutical products, such as those being developed by us, may take 10 to 15 years to research,
develop and bring to market in the United States. Drug development in the U.S. is a process that includes
several steps regulated by the FDA. The process begins with the filing of an IND application, which, if
successful, allows opportunity for clinical study of the pctential.new medicine. Clinical development typically
involves three phases of study: Phase 1, 2 and 3. Costs for each phase are generally larger than the preceding
phase, as the size of the clinical trial (number of patients) grows. The most significant costs associated with
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clinical development are the Phase 3 trials, as they tend to be the longest and largest studies conducted during
the drug development process. We currently have one product in development for which we have initiated
Phase 3 studies. However, the successful development of our products is highly uncertain. Estimates of
product completion dates and completion costs can vary significantly for each product and are difficult to
predict. Completion of clinical trials, including the VITAL-1 and VITAL-2 trials that we initiated in July
2004 and June 2005, respectively, may take several years or more. The length of time generally varies
substantially according to the type, complexity, novelty and intended use of the product candidate. However,
we estimate that clinical trials of the type we generally conduct are usually completed over the following
timelines:

Estimated
Clinical Phase Completion Period
Phase 1 ....... ... ... ... .. . e 1-3 years
Phase 2 ... 1-3 years
Phase 3 ... .. 2-5 years

Many factors may delay our commencement and speed of completion of clinical trials, including the size
and number of patients participating in the trial, the duration of patient follow-up required, the number of
clinical sites at which the trial is conducted, competing trials and the length of time required to locate and
enroll suitable patient subjects. Various statutes and regulations also govern or influence the manufacturing,
safety, labeling, storage, record keeping and marketing of each product. The lengthy process of seeking these
approvals, and the subsequent compliance with applicable statutes and regulations, require the expenditure of
substantial resources. Any failure by us to obtain, or any delay in obtaining, regulatory approvals could
materially adversely affect our business. In responding to an NDA or a BLA, the FDA may grant marketing
approval, request additional information or deny the application if it determines that the application does not
provide an adequate basis for approval. There can be no assurance that any approval required by the FDA or
other regulatory body will be obtained on a timely basis, if at all. For additional discussion of the risks and
uncertainties associated with completing development of potential products, see “Item 1A Risk Factors”
above.

Included below is a summary of products and the related stage of development for each product in
clinical development. The information in the column labeled “Estimated Completion of Ongoing Phase”
constitutes forward-looking statements regarding timing of completion of product development phases. Our
estimates of timing of completion of these trials are based on typical times of completion for trials of that type
at such phases of development. The actual timing of completion of these phases of our clinical trials could
differ materially from the estimates provided in the table due to the number of patients enrolled in the trial,
the number of clinical trial sites involved, the time needed to fully enroll the trial, the time required for patient
follow-up and other factors. Longer time frames for the completion of certain trials may be the result of
requirements to measure patient survival. In addition, it is possible that any of these ongoing clinical trials may
never be completed due to the occurrence of unacceptable treatment-related side effects, lack of clinical
efficacy, insufficient supply of product for these clinical trials and other factors. For a discussion of the risks
and uncertainties associated with the timing of completing a product development phase, see “Item 1A Risk
Factors” above.

Estimated
Phase of Completion
Treatment Development of Phase
GVAX Cancer Immunotherapies:
Prostate Cancer. .. ... .. Phase 3 2008-2009
Pancreatic Cancer............ i Phase 2 2006-2007
Leukemia — Acute Myelogenous (AML) ............. ... .. ... Phase 2 2008-2009
Leukemia — Chronic Myelogenous (CML) ..................... Phase 2 2008-2009
Oncolytic Virus Therapy:
CGO070 (Recurrent Bladder Cancer) .................coiiiiun... Phase 1 2006-2007




General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses were $16.3 million in 2005 compared to $17.9 million in 2004 and
$26.0 million in 2003. In connection with the move of our corporate headquarters to South San Francisco,
California in March 2003, we recorded lease exit costs related to our Foster City facility of $5.3 million in
2003 and $1.8 million in 2004 and reversed $0.4 million cf previously recorded expenses in 2005. Excluding
the effects of these charges, general and administrative expznses increased $0.6 million from 2004 to 2005 and
decreased $4.6 million from 2003 to 2004. The increase in 2005 compared to 2004 is attributed to higher legal
and accounting costs associated with general corporate activities. The higher expenses in 2003 compared to
I 2004 reflected approximately $2.3 million of facility costs, $1.5 million for Ceregene, our previously majority-
owned subsidiary, and approximately $0.9 million of non-recurring facﬂlty start-up and close-down costs in
connection with the move from the former headquarters ir. Foster City, California partially offset by increased
costs associated with compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and other corporate governance
requirements. Future spending for general and administrative costs is;expected to increase in order to support

our growing infrastructure needs.

Restructuring charges

In June 2005, we announced the implementation of i strategic restructuring of our business operations to
focus resources on our most advanced and most promising product development programs. In November
2005, we sold our San Diego manufacturing facility for viral products to Genzyme Corporation for
$3.2 million. We recorded a charge of $2.4 million in 2005 related to its restructuring decisions, including
$1.5 million for workforce reduction initiatives, $0.3 million to reduce the carrying value of the San Diego
manufacturing facility and $0.6 million for lease termination and other expenses.

Gain on sale of Abgenix common stock

During 2003, we recorded a gain of $55.1 million associated with our sale of 3.7 million shares of Abgenix
common stock. At December 31, 2005, we held 3.0 million shares of Abgenix common stock, which had a fair
market value of approximately $63.8 million as of that date. During 2004, we recorded a gain of $12.2 million
associated with the sale of 0.8 million shares of Abgenix common stock. During 2003 we recordcd a gain of
$12.6 million associated with the sale of 1.3 million shares of Abgcmx common stock.

In January and February 2006, we sold all 3.0 mill on shares of Abgenix common steck which we held as
of December 31, 2005, resulting in gross proceeds of $65.5 million and a realized gain of $62.7 million.

Interest and other income

{nterest and other income was $3.1 million in 2005 compared to $2.7 million in 2004 and $4.8 million in
2003. The increase in 2005 compared to 2004 is attribu.ted to higher average cash balances and higher interest
rates in 2005. The decrease in 2004 compared to 2003 is attributed to lower average cash balances and lower
interest rates in 2004. !

Interest expense

Interest expense was $10.7 million in 2005 compired to $9.9 million in 2004 and $5.4 million in 2003. In
October and November 2004 we issued $145.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 3.125% Convertible
Senior Notes due 2011 and used a portion of those proceeds to repay bank debt totaling $95.0 million. We
recorded interest expense related to our Convertible Senior Notes, including amortization of related debt
issuance costs, of $5.3 million and $0.9 million in 2015 and 2004, respectively. We recorded interest expense
on our previously outstanding bank debt of $3.5 mill.on and $1.0 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively, and
capitalized interest expense of $0.8 million in 2003 in connection with the construction of our manufacturing
facility in Hayward, California. Interest expense associated with our Scuth San Francisco, California capital
lease obligation was $5.3 million in 2005, $5.4 million in 2004 and $5.2 million in 2003.
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Income taxes

We recorded a tax provision of $5.9 million and $3.7 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively, and recorded
a tax benefit of $24.6 million in 2003. The tax provision recorded in 2003 relates to the realized gain on the
sale of 3.7 million shares of Abgenix common stock partially offset by tax benefits related to unrealized gains
on Abgenix common stock and $2.6 million of additional interest for tax contingencies. The tax provision
recorded in 2004 relates to the realized gain on the sale of 0.8 million shares of Abgenix common stock. The
tax benefits recorded in 2003 primarily related to net operating losses that the Company concluded are
realizable based on an estimate of future taxable income, including future taxable income that may result from
sales of our Abgenix common stock. Net operating losses that we have concluded are realizable are based on
our estimate of future taxable income, including taxable income from sales of Abgenix, Inc. common stock.
The carrying value of our deferred tax assets is based on our ability to carry-forward these net operating losses
to offset that potential future taxable income. At December 31, 2005, we had federal net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $301.0 million. The 2005 federal net operating losses will expire in the years
beginning 2007 through 2025, if not utilized.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2005, we had approximately $129.6 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments, including $2.9 million classified as restricted cash, related to outstanding letters of credit for our
corporate headquarters facility in South San Francisco, California and ¢cGMP manufacturing facility in
Hayward, California, Information regarding the classification of these assets is included in Note 4 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We have
maintained our financial position through strategic management of our resources including our holdings in
Abgenix common stock, funding from various corporate collaborations and licensing agreements and the
availability of debt financing.

In February 2003, our shelf registration statement was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange
Commission under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which allowed us to offer up to $150.0 million of
securities on short notice in one or more public offerings. We used this shelf registration in March 2004 to
complete a public offering of 4,887,500 shares of our common stock, resulting in gross proceeds of
$61.1 million. Although up to $88.9 million may still be offered under the shelf registration, there can be no
assurance that we will be able to issue any of the remaining securities under this shelf registration on
acceptable terms, or at all.

At December 31, 2005, we held approximately 3.0 million shares of Abgenix common stock, which had a
fair market value of approximately $63.8 million as of that date. In January and February 2006, we sold all
3.0 million shares of Abgenix common stock held at December 31, 2005, resulting in gross proceeds of
$65.5 million.

In October and November 2004, we sold a total of $145.0 million aggregate principal amount of our
3.125% Convertible Senior Notes due 2011 in a private placement. We received approximately $139.9 million
in proceeds after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and estimated offering expenses, which we used to
repay bank debt totaling $95.0 million, thereby eliminating restrictions on $60.0 million of cash.

Net cash used in operating activities was $106.2 million in 2005 compared to $93.8 million in 2004 and
$46.7 million in 2003. The increase in 2005 compared to 2004 was due primarily to a decline in revenues of
$6.9 million and the addition of a restructuring charge of $2.4 million. The increase in 2004 compared to 2003
was due primarily to a $41.0 million increase in the net loss. In 2003, we recorded the receipt of an aggregate
of $16.5 million in tax refunds from the Internal Revenue Service and California Franchise Tax Board from
the income tax paid in 2000 and 2001 for the gain on sale of Abgenix common stock. Also, we received
$15.0 million in 2003 from a license agreement with Transkaryotic Therapies, Inc. Cash requirements for
operating activities are expected to increase in future periods, due in part to significant costs related to our
ongoing Phase 3 trials. The timing of these cash requirements may vary from period to period depending on
our research and development activities, including our planned preclinical and clinical trials, obligations
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related to our existing manufacturing and headquarter facilities, and future requirements to establish
manufacturing and marketing capabilities for any products that we may develop.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $101.3 million in 2005 and $39.9 million in 2004 compared
to $37.7 million net cash used by investing activities in 2J03. Cash provided by net short-term investments
activities was $8.8 million higher in 2005 compared to 2004 and $56.5 million higher in 2004 compared to
2003. Cash inflows for the 2005 period include $58.5 millicn in net proceeds from the sale of 3.7 million shares
of Abgenix common stock compared to proceeds of $12.7 million in 2004 related to the sale of 0.8 million
shares of Abgenix common stock and $13.9 million in 2003 from the sale of 1.3 million shares of Abgenix
common stock. Cash inflows for 2005 also include $3.2 million in connection with the sale of our San Diego
manufacturing facility for viral products to Genzyme Corporation. Capital expenditures were $2.2 million in
2005 compared to $5.1 million in 2004 and $27.7 million in 2003. In 2004, we completed construction of
additional research areas in our corporate headquarters in South San Francisco, California. Capital expendi-
tures for 2003 consisted primarily of expenses incurred in connection with the construction of our cGMP
manufacturing facility in Hayward, California and our former cGMP manufacturing facilities in San Diego,
California and in Memphis, Tennessee, which were completed in late 2003. Our ¢cGMP manufacturing facility
located in Hayward, California is currently manufacturing GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer product
for our ongoing Phase 3 clinical trials. Leasehold imp-ovements for our corporate headquarters in South
San Francisco, California were completed in March 2003. ‘

Net cash provided by financing activities was $0.8 million in 2005 compared to $102.3 million in 2004
and $55.2 million in 2003. Cash flows in 2004 include net proceeds of $139.9 million from the private
placement of our 3.125% Convertible Senior Notes issuznce in October and November 2004 and net proceeds
of $57.2 miilion in connection with our public offering of 4,887,500 shares of common stock in March 2004. In
October 2004, we used part of the proceeds from oir note issuance to repay loans of an aggregate of
$95.0 million to Fleet Bank and Silicon Valley Bank. In July 2003, we received a $28.5 million upfront
payment from Novartis AG, of which $18.5 million was attributed to the issuance of an aggregate of
2.0 million shares of our common stock to Novartis and GTI, and the remaining $10.0 million was attributed
to deferred revenue. As of December 31, 2005 we have recognized all revenues associated with the
$28.5 million payment received from Novartis in July 2002. In September 2003, we borrowed $33.0 million
from Silicon Valley Bank under a five-year term loun agreement. We did not enter into any significant
financing activities in 20035.

In connection with a gain on sale of Abgenix common stock in 2000, we paid $42.5 million in federal and
state income taxes. Since 2000 we have received $35.7 million in tax refunds from the carryback of losses. We
have additional unutilized federal and state net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards, although the future
utilization of our federal NOL carryforwards is limited by Internal Revenue Code Section 382, which imposes
an annual limitation on taxable income that can be offset by NOL’s following a change in control. For IRS
purposes we experienced a change in control during cur acquisition of Somatix in 1997. Our unutilized state
net operating loss carryforwards may be similarly limited. ‘

We lease certain of our facilities and equipmer.t under non-cancelable operating leases. These leases,
including the Hayward and Memphis facility leases, expire at various dates through 2017, and some contain
options for renewal. Our South San Francisco headquarters facility lease is recorded as a capital lease as a
result of certain amendments that required us to fund the costs of certain structural components of the facility.

In connection with the sale of our San Diego. California manufacturing facility for viral products to
Genzyme Corporation and the termination of the related facility leases in November 2005, we retired
approximately $13.6 million of leasehold improvemeats and manufacturing assets and $10.2 million of related
accumulated depreciation. Also in November 2005 we terminated the lease for our former corporate
headquarters facility in Foster City, California and 1etired appréximately $5.0 million of associated leasehold
improvements, equipment and related accumulated depreciation. The increase in leasehold improvements and
the decrease in construction in process in 2004 compared to 2003 reflect the completion of our corporate
headguarters facility in South San Francisco, California and the completion of our cGMP manufacturing
facility in Hayward, California. The Hayward facility was placed in service during 2003. In 2003, we moved




our corporate headquarters to South San Francisco from Foster City, California. As a result, we retired
approximately $14.3 million and $1.0 million of leasehold improvements and other assets related to our former
corporate headquarters in Foster City, California, and approximately $13.6 million and $1.0 million of related
accumulated depreciation, in 2003 and in 2004, respectively. The decrease in construction in process also
reflects the deconsolidation of Ceregene in August 2004 subsequent to Ceregene’s Series B preferred stock
financing.

Our long-term contractual obligations at December 31, 2005 were as follows (in thousands):
Payment Due

2011 and

Total 2006 2007 and 2008 2009 and 2010 thereafter

Convertible senior notes . ....... $145,000 § — $ - $ — $145,000
South San Francisco capital lease

obligation .................. 93,588 6,300 13,268 14,249 59,771

Operating leases .............. 29,750 1,944 3,860 3,919 20,027

$268,338  $8,244 $17,128 $18,168 $224,798

Under certain circumstances, we may redeem some or all of the convertible senior notes on or after
November 1, 2009 at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes. Holders of the
notes may require us to repurchase some or all of their notes if a fundamental change (as defined in the
indenture) occurs, at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes, plus accrued and
unpaid interest (and additional amounts, if any) to, but not including, the repurchase date. The notes are
convertible into our common stock, initially at the conversion price of $9.10 per share, equal to a conversion
rate of approximately 109.8901 shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes, subject to adjustment.

We estimate that our cash to be used in operating activities during 2006 will be approximately
$100 million to $105 million. This estimated use of cash does not include capital expenditures or the cost of
any potential acquisitions, nor does it reflect the potential offset by equity or debt financings or major new
collaborative ventures. Qur capital requirements depend on numerous factors, including: the progress and
scope of our internally funded research, development, clinical, manufacturing and commercialization activi-
ties; our ability to establish new collaborations and the terms of those collaborations; our ability to reach a
favorable resolution with the IRS with respect to their audit of our fiscal 2000 federal tax return, or to other
potential tax assessments; competing technological and market developments; the time and cost of regulatory
approvals; and various other factors that we discuss under ltem 14, “Risk Factors” above. Our ongoing
development programs and any increase in the number and size of programs and trials will reduce our current
cash resources and potentially create further need to raise additional capital. Therefore, we will continue to
consider financing alternatives, including collaborative ventures and potential equity and debt financings.

While we believe that our current liquidity position will be sufficient to meet our cash needs for at least
the next year, we may need to raise substantial additional funds in order to complete our pending and planned
trials over their multi-year course before we will obtain product revenue, if any, from such products.
Accordingly, we may entertain the possibility of raising additional capital to preserve our liquidity, depending
on a number of conditions, including conditions in the capital markets. The sources of liquidity available to us
include payments from potential partners and/or licensees of our potential products and technologies, and
private or public placement of Cell Genesys equity securities, warrants, debt securities or depositary shares.
We regularly consider the conditions of capital markets, dilution, stockholder value and tax consequences of
each type of financing on stockholders. Certain of the financing options available to us may have negative
consequences to stockholders such as dilution. Given the volatile nature of the capital markets, decisions to
raise capital may require actions that would impose a negative consequence in order to reduce or minimize a
more significant negative consequence to stockholders.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate sensitivity on our investments in debt securities and our outstanding fixed
rate debt. The objective of our investment activities 's to preserve principal, while at the same time
maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk. To achieve this objective, we invest in highly liquid,
investment grade and government debt securities. Our investments in debt securities are subject to interest
rate risk. To minimize the exposure due to an adverse shift in interest rates, we invest in short-term securities
and our goal is to maintain an average maturity of less then one year. The following table provides information
about our financial instruments that are sensitive to chaages in interest rates.

Interest Rate Sensitivity
Principal Amount by Expected Maiurity and Average Interest Rate

Fair Value
2010 December 31,
As of December 31, 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total 2005
(Dollars in thousands)
Total Investment Securities
Excluding Asset Backed ........... $79,040 39661 $§ — $ — § — $ 88,701 $ 88,586
Average Interest Rate ............. 327%  4.23% — — — 3.38% —
Asset Backed Securities(i) ........... $ 25,761 $ 25,696
Average Interest Rate ............. 4.08% —
Fixed Interest Rate
Convertible Senior Notes............. $ 4531  $4,53. $4,531 $4,531  $153,307 $171,431 $121,500
Average Interest Rate ............. 3.125%  3.123% 3.125% 3.125% 3.125% 3.125% —

(i) Asset backed securities have various contractual maturity dates ranging from 2006 to 2035. The expected
maturity dates for these securities range from 200¢ to 2007 and differ from the contractual maturity dates
because the issuers of these securities have, in some circumstances, the right to prepay the obligations.

Fair Value
2009 December 31,
As of December 31, 2004 2005 2006 2007 1 2008 Thereafter Total 2004
(DQllars in thousands)
Total Investment Securities...... $115,112  $37,340 310976 § — § —  $163,428 $162,779
Average Interest Rate ........ 2.39% 2.27% 2.46% — — 2.37% —
Fixed Interest Rate
Convertible Senior Notes........ $ 4531 $4531 $ 4531 $4,531  $157838  $175,962 $170,500

Average Interest Rate ........ 3.125%  3.125%  3.125% 3.125% 3.125% 3.125% —




ITEM 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Cell Genesys, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Cell Genesys, Inc. maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(the COSQ criteria). Cell Genesys, Inc’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of
the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control,
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Cell Genesys, Inc. maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 20035, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO
criteria. Also, in our opinion, Cell Genesys maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Cell Genesys, Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2005 and our report dated March 7, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Erst & Young LLP

Palo Alto, California
March 7, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Cell Genesys, Inc,

We have audited the accompanying consolidated bal:ince sheets of Cell Genesys, Inc. as of December 31,
2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements cf operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. These financial statements are the
responsibility of Cell Genesys, Inc.’s management. Ovr responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation, We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred 1o above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Cell Genesys at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the consolidated results of
its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting priaciples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of Cell Genesys’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Intzrnal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 7, 2006
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/  Ernst & Young LLP

Palo Alto, California
March 7, 2006
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CELL GENESYS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2005 2004

(In thousands, except par
value and share data)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .......... ... ... i $ 54221 $ 58,324
Short-term INVESHMENTS . . . ..\ vttt et e e e e e et 72,483 113,347
Investment in Abgenix, Inc. common stock . ............... .. ........... 63,824 68,503
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ............... ... ... il 2,104 1,184
Total CUITENt @SSES .. oot vttt et e et 192,632 241,358
Restricted cash and investments .......... e 2,894 3,300
Property and equipment, net. ... ... e 142,225 159,663
Deferred InCOME taX ASSELS . o o vttt et e e e e e e 24,430 25,177
Unamortized debt issuance costs and otherassets. .............. ... ... ..... 4,794 5,641

$ 366,975 $ 435,139

Current liabilities:

Accounts pavable .. .. ... $ 1902 § 2,888
Accrued compensation and benefits............ .. ... e 4,399 5,071
Deferred revenue . ... ... .. — 2,031
Accrued facility exit COStS . ... .. — 6,092
Other accrued liabilities ...........co it i e 4,947 5,924
AcCrued INCOME 1aXES . .. vttt et 32,612 29,954
Deferred income tax Labilities .......... ... .. ... i, 24,430 25,177
Current portion of capital lease obligation .............. ... .. ... ... . ... 1,095 786
Total current liabilities .. ........ .. i i 69,385 77,923

Other Habilities. . . ..ot e e e 2,174 —
Capital lease obligation, less current portion ............. .. ... i, 49919 51,013
Convertible SENIOr NOTES . ...ttt e et 145,000 145,000

Redeemable Series B convertible preferred stock, $.001 par value: 4,000 shares
authorized; designated by series; none and 152 shares issued and outstanding
in 2005 and 2004, respectively ... ...t e — 1,897
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.001 par value: 4,996,000 shares authorized; designated by
series; none issued and outstanding in 2005 and 2004, respectively....... — —
Common stock, $.001 par value: 150,000,000 shares authorized; 45,559,495
and 44,978,226 shares issued and outstanding in 2005 and 2004,

TESPECHIVELY - . .o e 46 45
Additional paid-in capital .. ... ... . .. 375,700 372,014
Accumulated other comprehensive income . ................ ... ...l 33,663 31,220
Accumulated deficit. ....... ... (308,912)  (243,973)

Total stockholders” equity . ... e 100,497 159,306

$ 366,975 § 435,139

See accompanying notes
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CELL GENESYS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands, except per share data)
Revenue . ... . $ 4584 §11458 § 18,128
Operating expenses:
Research and development ........... ... ... . L. 92,405 92,133 85,296
General and administrative . .......... ... . i 16,342 17,928 25,980
Restructuring charges . ... ... ... o i 2,350 — —
Total operating eXpenses . ........c..c.ueeruneeinnneeennne. 111,097 110,061 111,276
Loss from operations ............ ... i, PR (106,513)  (98,603)  (93,148)
Other income (expense):
Gain on sale of Abgenix, Inc. common stock ................. 55,123 12,160 12,638
Interest and otherincome ........ ... ... ... ... ... ... 3,058 2,662 4,832
Interest EXpense. . .. ..ottt e (10,679)  (9,885) (5,360)
Loss before income taxes . ...t (59,011)  (93,666)  (81,038)
Income tax benefit (provision) .................. ... i (5,928) (3,745 24,632
Nt 0SS © e (64,939) (97,411}  (56,406)
Dividend in kind to preferred stockholders ............... ........ 4 100 230
Net loss attributed to common stockholders ...................... $ (64,943) $(97,511) $(56,636)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share ........ ... e $ (143) $§ (223) § (1.48)
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding-basic and
diluted ... 45,434 43,682 38,177

See accompaaying notes
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CELL GENESYS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated
Other
Common Stock Addi'tional Comprehensive Total ,
A O Paid-In Income Accumulated Stockholders
Shares Amounts  Capital (Loss) Deficit Equity
(In thousands)
Balances at December 31,2002 .. ................ 36,882 $37 $286,548 $34,719 $ (90,156) $231,148
Comprehensive loss:
Net 0SS vt — — — — (56,406) (56,406)
Change in net unrealized gain on available-for-sale
securities, netof taxes ............. ... ..... —_ —_ — 16,652 — 16,652
Total comprehensive 10ss. . ...t (39,754)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock

options and pursuant to the Employee Stock

Purchase Plan........... .. .. . .. ... ... .... 223 — 1,730 — — 1,730
Income tax benefit from stock option deductions . .. — — 216 — — 216
Non-employee stock-based compensation .......... — — 81 — — 81
Conversion of 439 preferred shares into common . :

shares. .. ... 567 1 5,155 — — 5,156
Issuance of common stock to Novartis/GTI ....... 2,000 2 18,517 — — 18,519
Dividend to preferred stockholders................ — = (230) — — (230)
Balances at December 31,2003 ............... ... 39,672 40 312,017 51,371 (146,562) 216,866
Comprehensive loss:

INEE 0SS . v vt — — — — (97,411) (97,411)

Change in net unrealized loss on available-for-sale

securities, net of taxes .. ....... ... ... ....... — — — (20,151) — (20,151)
Total comprehensive loss. . ... ... (117,562)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock

options and pursuant to the Employee Stock

Purchase Plan...... ... .o i il 284 — 1,897 — — 1,897
Issuance of common stock in follow-on public

offering, net of issuance costs of $3.9 million.. . ... 4,887 5 57,186 — — 57,191
Non-employee stock-based compensation .. ........ — — 105 — — 105
Conversion of 74 preferred shares into commeon ‘ '

ShATES . . o e 135 — 909 — — 909
Dividend to preferred stockholders................ — = (100) — — (100)
Balances at December 31,2004 ... ............. .. 44,978 45 372,014 31,220 (243,973) 159,306
Comprehensive loss:

Net 1085 ..o oo — — — — (64,939) (64,939)

Change in net unrealized gain on available-for-sale

securities, net of taxes .................... .. — — — 2,443 — 2,443
Total comprehensive loss. . ...................... (62,496)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock

options and pursuant to the Employee Stock

Purchase Plan........... ... ... ... ......... 305 1 1,595 — — 1,596
Non-employee stock-based compensation . ......... — — 195 — — 195
Conversion of 152 preferred shares into common

Shares . . .o 276 — 1,900 — — 1,900
Dividend to preferred stockholders. ............... — = (4) — — )
Balances at December 31,2005............... ... 45,559 $46 $375,700 $33,663 $(308,912) $100,497

See accompanying notes
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CELL GENESYS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
{In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
NEt 1085 « ettt e e "% (64,939) $§ (97.411) $ (56,406)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
activities: ‘
Depreciation and amortization. . ... ... 16,204 16,773 12,159
Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment .......... ‘ 27 (19) 634
Asset impairment . ... 280 — —
Gain on sale of Abgenix, Inc. common stock ............... T (55,123) (12,160) (12,638)
Non-employee stock based compensation .................. 137 105 81
Deferred income tax provision (benefit) ................... ! 3,271 3,745 (20,682)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: i
Prepaid expenses and other assets...................... ... ;3' (100) 788 636
Receivable from Transkaryotic Therapies, Inc. ............. i - — 15,000
Accounts payable ....... ... .. (986) 411 (1,413)
Accrued compensation and benefits ............ ... ... ..., (672) 1,134 495
Deferred revenue . ... ..o o e | (2,031) (5,846) 2,006
Accrued facility exit costs ........ ... ... o i i (6,092) (3,367) 3,281
Other accrued liabilities .. ............. ... .. i i © 1,197 2,064 (2,260)
Accrued iNCOME tAXES . .. .vuwreee e ‘ 2,658 — 12,386
Net cash used in operating activities ........... ........ . (106,223) (93,783) (46,721)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of short-term investments ............... ........ © (109,363)  (227,651)  (265,905)
Maturities of short-term investments . .............. «....... 51,066 8,543 15,520
Sales of short-term investments .................... ... e ‘ 99,629 251,661 226,468
Conversion of restricted cash and investments ........ ... R . 406 — —
Capital expenditures ... ....... ... i i i e ‘ (2,189) (5,087) (27,658)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment............. ‘ 3,255 67 65
Proceeds from sale of Abgenix, Inc. common stock............ ! 58,506 12,918 13,859
Cash effect related to the deconsolidation of Ceregene . ........ — (521) —
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ........ © 101,310 39,930 (37,651)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuances of common stock ................... 1,596 59,088 20,249
Net proceeds from convertible senior note-financing ........... — 139,912 —
Proceeds from term loan financings ......................... ‘ — — 35,237
Payments under Ceregene financing .. ....................... — (482) - (272)
Payments under capital lease obligation.......... e {786) (515) 47
Payments under debt financings ......... ... ... ... .. ... ‘ — (95,693) —
Net cash provided by financing activities................. ‘ 810 102,310 55,167
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ............ L (4,103) 48,457 (29,205)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year................ 58,324 9,867 39,072
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year..................... '$ 54,221 $ 58,324 9,867

See accompanying notes
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CELL GENESYS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Business activity

Cell Genesys, Inc. (“Cell Genesys” or “the Company”) has focused its research and product develop-
ment efforts on biological therapies for patients with cancer. The Company’s objective is to develop and
commercialize cell-based immunotherapies and oncolytic virus therapies to treat different types of cancer.
Cell Genesys’ current clinical-stage programs include GVAX cancer immunotherapies and oncolytic virus
therapies.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Cell Genesys and its subsidiaries, including
its majority-owned subsidiary, Ceregene, Inc. through August 3, 2004, after which, as a result of a decline in
ownership, Ceregene was no longer consolidated, but is accounted for under the equity method. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Management
makes estimates when preparing the financial statements including those related to revenue recognition,
accrued but unbilled expenses for clinical trials, income taxes, long-term service contracts, stock option
valuation and contingencies.

Concentrations of risk

We are subject to concentration of risk from our investments. At December 31, 2005, approximately 33%
of total investments are concentrated in our investment in Abgenix, Inc. common stock. Risk for investments
is otherwise managed by the purchase of investment grade securities and the diversification of the investment
portfolio among issuers and maturities.

Revenue recognition

The Company’s revenues are derived principally from research and licensing agreements with collabora-
tors. Revenue under such collaboration agreements typically includes upfront payments, cost reimbursements,
milestone payments and license fees. We evaluate whether the delivered element under these arrangements
has value to our customer on a stand-alone basis and whether objective and reliable evidence of fair value of
the undelivered item exists. Deliverables that do not meet these criteria are treated as one unit of accounting
for the purposes of revenue recognition.

Up-front payments: Up-front payments from our research collaborations include payments for technol-
ogy transfer and access rights. Non-refundable upfront license fees and other payments under collaboration
agreements where the Company continues involvement throughout development are deferred and recognized
on a straight-line or ratable method, unless we determine that another methodology is more appropriate,
During 2003, 2004 and 2003, the Company recognized revenue from a non-refundable upfront payment under
our global alliance with Novartis AG for the development of certain oncolytic virus therapies based upon when
the underlying development expenses were incurred, rather than a ratable method, as we determined that the
expense method was more appropriate for this agreement. The revenues recorded under the Novartis alliance
approximated the related development expenses that were incurred in the respective periods. The Company
recognizes cost reimbursement revenue under collaborative agreements as the related research and develop-
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CELL GENESYS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

ment costs are incurred, as provided for under the terms of these agreements. Deferred revenue represents the
portion of upfront payments received that has not been earned.

Milestones: Payments for milestones that are based on the achievement of substantive and at risk-
performance criteria are recognized in full upon achieven ent of the incentive milestone events in accordance
with the terms of the agreement. Incentive milestone payments are triggered either by the results of the
Company’s research efforts or by events external to the Company, such as regulatory approval to market a
product or the achievement of specified sales levels by a marketing partner. As such, the incentive milestones
are substantially at risk at the inception of the contract, and the amounts of the payments assigned thereto are
commensurate with the milestone achieved. Upon the achievement of an incentive milestone event, the
Company has no future performance obligations related to that payment.

License fees: Non-refundable license fees where the Company has completed all future obligations are
recognized as revenue upon execution of the technology licensing agreement when delivery has occurred,
collectibility is reasonably assured and the price is fixed und determinable.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, generally 5 to 15 years. Computer equipment is depreciated over a life of
three years. Property and equipment leased under capital leases are amortized over the shorter of the useful
lives or the lease term. Leasehold improvements are stated at cost and amortized over the shorter of the useful
lives or the lease term. Construction in process is reclassiried to an appropriate fixed asset classification and
depreciated when it is placed in service.

Long-lived assets

The Company’s policy regarding long-lived assets is to evaluate the recoverability of its assets when the
facts and circumstances suggest that the assets may be in paired. This assessment of fair value is performed
based on the estimated undiscounted cash flows compared to the carrying value of the assets. If the future
cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) arz less than the carrying value, a write-down would
be recorded to reduce the related asset to its estimated fair value.

Unamortized debt issuance costs

Unamortized debt issnance costs relate to the Comparny’s convertible senior notes and are amortized over
the life of the related debt. Amortization expense totaled $0.7 million and $0.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively and is reported as interest expense.

~ Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments

Cell Genesys invests its excess cash and short-term .nvestments, including restricted cash and invest-
ments, with high credit quality United States and foreign financial institutions, government and corporate
issuers and limits the amount of credit exposure to any on= issuer. The Company considers all highly liquid
investments with insignificant interest rate risk with original maturities of less than three months when
purchased to be cash equivalents. All investments are denminated in U.S. dollars. Short-term investments
include equity securities classified as available-for-sale. Th: Company records its investments at fair market
value, based on quoted market prices. ‘

The Company’s debt and marketable equity securities are classified as available-for-sale and carried at
fair value. Management considers its investments in de»t securities to be available for use in current
operations. As a result, all investments in debt securities are: classified as current assets, even if the remaining
maturity of the investment is more than one year beyond the balance sheet date. The cost of securities sold is
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based on the specific identification method. Realized gains and losses and declines in value, judged to be other
than temporary, on available-for-sale securities are included in interest and other income (loss). Unrealized
holding gains and losses on securities classified as available-for-sale are recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income, net of tax. The Company determines the appropriate classification of debt securities at
the time of purchase and re-evaluates such designation as of each balance sheet date.

Restricted cash and investments at December 31, 2005 relate to outstanding letters of credit which secure
the Company’s leased corporate headquarters facility in South San Francisco, California, and its leased cGMP
manufacturing facility in Hayward, California.

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of financial instruments such as cash equivalents, prepaid expenses and other
current assets, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities approximate fair value because -
of the short maturities of these instruments. The estimated fair value of our convertibie senior notes is
determined by using available market information and valuation methodologies that correlate fair value with
the market price of the Company’s common stock that is provided by a third party financial institution. The
fair value of our convertible senior notes as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 is approximately $121.5 million
and $170.9 million, respectively.

Research and development costs

Costs incurred in research and development activities are expensed as incurred. Research and develop-
ment expenses include, but are not limited to, payroll and personnel expenses, lab expenses, clinical trial and
related clinical manufacturing costs, facilities and overhead costs.

Loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share includes the impact of potentially dilutive securities. As
the Company’s potentially dilutive securities (stock options, redeemable convertible preferred stock and
convertible debt) were anti-dilutive for all years presented, they have been excluded from the computation of
shares used in computing diluted loss per share.

The Company had securities outstanding which could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the
future, but were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share, as their effect would have been
antidilutive. These outstanding securities consisted of the following (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended
December 31,
) 2005 2004
Convertible senior notes .......... e 15,934 15,934
Redeemable convertible preferred stock ....... .. ... ... Ll — 253
Outstanding Stock OptIONS . .. ...\ e 8,087 7,822

50




CELL GENESYS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued}

Comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of net loss and other comprehensive income (loss). Other
comprehensive income (loss) includes certain changes to stockholders’ equity of the Company that are
excluded from net loss. Other comprehensive income (13ss) includes solely unrealized gains or losses on the
Company’s available-for-sale securities, including the Company’s holdings of Abgenix, Inc. common stock,
net of tax. The following table presents the calculation of comprehensive income (loss) (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

Net 108« $(64,939) $ (97,411) $(56,406)
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Increase (decrease) in unrealized gain on investraents, net

of tax benefit/ (provision) of ($21.7) miilion,

$(9.6) million and $11.1 million in 2005, 2004 and

2003, respectively . ... 32,297 (12,779) 25,411
Less: reclassification adjustment for gains recognized in

net Joss, net of related tax of $25.0 million,

$4.9 million, and $5.8 million in 2005, 2004, ard 2003, -

respectively . ... (29,354) (7,372) (8,759)

Comprehensive 10ss. .. ... $(62,496) §$(117,562) $(39,754)

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the provision of SFAS No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes”. SFAS 109 requires recognition of deferred taxes to provide for temporary
differences between financial reporting and tax basis of ussets and liabilities. Deferred taxes are measured
using enacted tax rates expected to be in effect in the year in which the basis difference is expected to reverse.
The Company records a valuation allowance against deferred income tax assets when the realization of such
deferred tax income assets cannot be determined to be more likely than not.

Segment reporting

The Company’s operations are treated as one operating segment, as it reports profit and loss information
only on an aggregate basis to the chief operating decision-makers.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year balances, relating to restricted cash and investments, have been reclassified from
current to non-current to conform to the current year pres:ntation.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued a revision of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123, or SFAS 123R, which requires all share-based payments to employees and
directors, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on their
values. We expect to calculate the value of share-based payments under SFAS 123R on a basis substantially
consistent with the fair value approach of SFAS 123. We will adopt SFAS 123R in our fiscal quarter
beginning January 1, 2006, using the modified prospective method. We expect the adoption of SFAS 123R
will have a material impact on our results of operations in that fiscal quarter and in each subsequent quarter,
although it will have no impact on our overall liquidity. We cannct reasonably estimate the impact of adoption
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because it will depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the future as well as certain assumptions
that can materially affect the calculation of the value share-based payments to employees and directors.
However, had we adopted SFAS 123R in prior periods, the impact of the standard would have approximated
the impact of SFAS 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net loss and pro forma loss per common
share in the Stock Based Compensation section below.

Stock-based compensation

The Company’s employee stock compensation plans are accounted for utilizing the intrinsic value
method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees, and related interpretations. Under this method, no compensation expense is recognized as long
as the exercise price equals or exceeds the market price of the underlying stock on the date of the grant.

The following pro forma information regarding net loss has been calculated as if the Company had
accounted for its employee stock options and stock purchase plan using the fair value method under
SFAS No. 123

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands except per share data)
Net loss attributed to common stockholders, as reported............ $(64,943) $ (97,511) $(56,636)
Deduct:
Stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair
value method for all awards, net of related tax effects....... ... (9,369) (13,516)  (12,700)
Pro forma net 1SS . .. oottt e $(74,312) $(111,027) $(69,336)
Loss per share:
Basic and diluted loss per common share, as reported ............ $ (143 $  (2.23) $§ (1.4¥)
Basic and diluted pro forma loss per common share ............. $ (1.64) $§ (254) § (1.82)

The fair value of the Company’s stock options used to compute pro forma net loss and pro forma loss per
share disclosures is the estimated value using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The following
assumptions were used in completing the model:

Year Ended
December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Dividend yield . ... ... e 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Annual risk free rate of return ... ... . L 3.82% 2.67% 1.53%
Expected volatility. ... .. o e 0.60 068 0.76
Expected term (years) .. ... ..ot e 4.0 39 39

2. Restructuring charges

In June 2005, the Company commenced the implementation of a strategic restructuring of its business
operations to focus resources on its most advanced and most promising product development programs. The
Company intends to deploy the majority of its resources going forward to advance GVAX immunotherapy for
prostate cancer, which is currently in Phase 3 development, as well as GVAX immunotherapy for pancreatic
cancer and GVAX immunotherapy for leukemia, both of which are in Phase 2 development. The Company’s
priorities in the oncolytic virus therapy area include CGO0070, which recently entered clinical trials for
recurrent bladder cancer, and CG3757, both of which could be evaluated in multiple types of cancer in the
future. The Company discontinued certain clinical programs including the GVAX immunotherapy programs
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for lung cancer and myeloma. In the oncolytic virus therapy program, the Company discontinued further
development of CG7870 for prostate cancer and early-siage research programs for the development of new
oncolytic virus therapies, as well as research efforts in anti-angiogenesis gene therapy for cancer.

In connection with this restructuring, in November 2005 the Company sold its San Diego manufacturing
facility for viral products to Genzyme Corporation for $3.2 million. The Company recorded a charge of
$2.4 million in 20035 related to its restructuring decisions, including $1.5 million for workforce reduction
initiatives, $0.3 million to reduce the carrying value of the San Diego manufacturing facility and $0.6 million
for lease termination and other expenses. At December 31, 2005, $0.2 million of restructuring costs remained
accrued for but had not yet been paid.

3. Collaborative and License Agreements

The Company has derived substantially all of its revenues from collaborative and license agreements, as
shown in the following table (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
NOVartis AG . ......oooete . $2,031 $ 5846 $ 2,104
Japan Tobacco Inc. ....... . ... .. i — — 14,145
sanofi-aventis Group ..........ooour it ean . 2,000 3,173 1,000
Transkaryotic Therapies, Inc. ............ ... ... . ... e — 250 —
Ceregene, Inc. (since August 4,2004) ........... ... ... ... 69 998 —
O Her i 484 1,191 879

$4,584 $11458 $18,128

Global alliance with Novartis AG

On July 23, 2003, the Company announced a global alliance with Novartis AG for the development and
commercialization of oncolytic virus therapies. Under the agreement, the Company acquired exclusive
worldwide rights to certain oncolytic virus therapy prodicts and related intellectual property of Genetic
Therapy, Inc. (GTI), an affiliate of Novartis, as well as certain related intellectual property of Novartis, and
received an upfront payment of $28.5 million from Novirtis. This payment was dedicated to the further
development of certain existing oncolytic virus therapy products of the Company and those acquired from
GTI, in each case for which the Company and Novart:s both have future commercialization rights. In
exchange, the Company issued to Novartis and GTI 1,999,640 shares of Cell Genesys, Inc. common stock. Of
the $28.5 million upfront payment received from Novartis, the Company recorded approximately $18.5 mil-
lion to the 1,999,840 common shares issued, based upon tte market value of such shares, and approximately
$10.0 million to deferred revenue, which the Company ariortized to revenue over the related development
period based upon when the underlying development expences were incurred. The agreement also provides the
basis for the sharing of future additional development costs. and profits related to the potential products on a
worldwide basis. The Company recognized $2.0 million, $:.8 million and $2.1 million in revenue under this
agreement in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. As of December 31, 2005 the Company has recognized all
revenues associated with the $28.5 million payment received from Novartis in July 2003.

Collaborative agreement with Japan Tobacco Inc.

On December 17, 1998, Cell Genesys entered into a worldwide collaboration agreement with the
pharmaceutical division of Japan Tobacco Inc. (“JT”) for certain of the Company’s GVAX cancer
immunotherapies. In October 2002, the remaining portion of the agreement with JT was terminated with the
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result that Cell Genesys reacquired full commercial rights to the entire GVAX cancer immunotherapy
portfolio. In August 2003, the Company announced that an agreement had been reached regarding
outstanding clinical and patent-related milestone and wind down payments arising from this terminated
collaboration agreement and recorded related revenue of $14.1 million in 2003. The Company did not record
any revenue associated with this agreement in 2005 or 2004.

Gene activation technology licenses

Cell Genesys executed a license agreement with Aventis, now sanofi-aventis Group, in February 1997 for
gene-activated erythropoietin (“EPO”) and a second undisclosed protein. In late 2000, sanofi-aventis Group
informed the Company of its intention to terminate this license agreement as it relates to the second
undisclosed protein. The agreement provides for up to $26.0 million in milestone payments and fees, in
addition to any royalties on future sales of gene-activated EPO anywhere in the world. As of December 31,
2005, Cell Genesys had received approximately $25.2 million under this license agreement, which included
certain milestone payments relating to the development of gene-activated EPO which sanofi-aventis Group is
developing in collaboration with Transkaryotic Therapies, Inc (“TKT”). The Company recognized revenues
of $2.0 million, $3.2 million and $1.0 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, pursuant to the agreement.

In June 2002, Cell Genesys completed a license agreement with TKT under which Cell Genesys
exclusively licensed intellectual property relating to the development of gene-activated EPQO. In exchange,
Cell Genesys received an upfront license fee of $26.0 million, which was to have been comprised of
$11.0 million in cash and $15.0 million in shares of TKT common stock. An amendment to the original license
agreement provided for the substitution of a cash payment in lieu of the TKT stock, and in January 2003, Cell
Genesys received a cash payment of $15.0 million from TKT. In addition, Cell Genesys may receive
additional payments, in an aggregate amount of up to $12.0 million in cash and TKT common stock, upon the
achievement of certain patent-related milestones, but Cell Genesys can make no assurances that any of these
patent-related milestones will ever be achieved or that any additional payments will be received. No ongoing
royalty payments will be made by TKT to Cell Genesys under the terms of this agreement. In 2004, the
Company received and recorded $0.3 million in revenue as a result of patent-related milestones achieved
under this agreement. The Company did not record any revenue associated with this agreement in 2005 or
2003.

Gene therapy rights agreement with Abgenix

In November 1997, Cell Genesys entered into a gene therapy rights agreement (the “GTRA”) with
Abgenix. The GTRA provides Cell Genesys with certain rights to Abgenix’s XenoMouse® technology in the
field of gene therapy. Cell Genesys is obligated to make certain payments to Abgenix for these rights including
license fees and royalties on future product sales. The GTRA also prohibits Abgenix from granting any third-
party licenses for antibody products based on antigens nominated by Abgenix for its own purposes where the
primary field of use is gene therapy. In the case of third-party licenses granted by Abgenix where gene therapy
is a secondary field, Abgenix is obligated to share with Cell Genesys a portion of the cash milestone payments
and royalties resulting from any products in the field of gene therapy.

Other collaborations

Cell Genesys has licensing agreements relating to its proprietary viral vector technologies. These
collaborations enable Cell Genesys to receive monetary reimbursement for providing viral vector technologies
to companies that commercialize these technologies for the research market. Examples include agreements
with the Clontech division of Becton, Dickinson and Company and Invitrogen Corporation.
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4. Investments

The following is a summary of the Company’s available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2005 and
2004 (in thousands):

Gross Gross

Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
December 31, 2005 Amortized Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Money market funds . ............. .. ... ... § 41,135 $ 2 $§ — $ 41,137
Corporate NOteS .. ...\ iiit it i i 12,270 15 (5) 12,280
Asset backed securities .. ........ ... oL 25,761 6 (71 25,696
U.S. government and its agencies .................. 35,296 — (127) 35,169
Abgenix common stock......... ... ..o L 2,749 61,075 — 63,824

$117,211 $61,098 $(203) $178,106

Classified as:
Cash equivalents ....... ... oo il i, $ 41,799
Short-term investments

........................... 72,483
Abgenix common stock. . ... ... L 63,824
$178,106
Gross Gross

Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

December 31, 2004 Amortized Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Money market funds . ..., i $ 2,744 5 - $ — $ 2,744
Corporate notes ..............ccvoviieiieiiaiini, 11,743 — (3) 11,740
U.S. government and its agencies .................. 148,941 6 (652) 148,295
Abgenix common stock................. ... ... ..., 6,131 62,372 — 68,503

$169,559 $62,378  $(655)  $231,282

Classified as:
Cashequivalents ................... ... cuvn... $ 49,432

........................... ‘ 113,347
Abgenix common stock........... .. ... ‘ 68,503

Short-term investments

$231,282

As of December 31, 2005, unrealized losses set fortt. above were primarily due to increases in interest
rates. The gross unrealized losses in our portfolio of investrients represent approximately 0.1% of the total fair
value of the portfolio. We have concluded that unrealizec. losses in our investment securities are not other-
than-temporary, and we have the intent and ability to hold impaired securities to maturity or call date. Gross
realized gains on the sale of investment securities were $5¢.8 million, $12.3 million, and $14.6 million for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectivily. The Company sold 3.7 million, 0.8 million and
1.3 million shares of Abgenix stock resulting in net proceeds of $38.5 million, $12.9 million and $13.9 million
in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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The amortized cost and estimated fair value of the Company’s available-for-sale securities by contractual
maturity are shown below (in thousands):

December 31, 2005 Amortized Cost Estimated Fair Value
Debt securities maturing:
IN ONE YEAT OT LESS oo v e e vttt e e ettt e i et e e $ 79,040 $§ 78,917
In ONE 10 tWO YEAIS . . oo\ttt it et e 9,661 9,669
Asset backed securities .. ... .. i e 25,761 25,696
$114,462 $114,282

Asset backed securities have various contractual maturity dates. The expected maturity dates will differ
from the contractual maturity dates because the issuers of these securities have, in some circumstances, the
right to prepay the obligations.

In January and February 2006, the Company sold all 3.0 million shares of Abgenix common stock which
it held as of December 31, 2005, resulting in gross proceeds of $65.5 million and a realized gain on sale of
$62.7 million.

5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

2005 2004
Machinery, furniture and equipment ........... ... i $ 29,878 $ 34,792
Leasehold improvements .. ........... ... ... ..., e 102,815 112,130
Property and equipment under capital lease obligation ................. 52,361 52,361
Construction i PrOCESS . . ..ottt ettt 1,461 3,864
186,515 203,147
Accumulated depreciation and amortization................ ... ...... (44,290)  (43,484)

$142,225  $159,663

Accumulated amortization related to capital lease obligations was $9.9 million and $6.4 million as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

6. Convertible Senior Notes and Other Debt Financings

In October 2004, the Company entered into a purchase agreement with initial purchasers relating to the
private placement of $110.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 3.125% Convertible Senior Notes due
2011. The Company granted the initial purchasers a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional
$35.0 million principal amount of the notes, which the purchasers elected to exercise in full in November
2004. The Company received approximately $139.9 million in net proceeds after deducting the initial
purchasers’ discount and estimated offering expenses. The Company used a portion of the net proceeds to
repay bank debt of $60.0 million related to an asset-backed debt financing obligation acquired from Fleet
Bank in December 2001 in connection with the construction of the Company’s manufacturing facility in
Hayward, California and to repay $35.0 million in term loans acquired in September 2003 from Silicon Valley
Bank. The Company recorded interest expense inciuding the amortization of debt issuance costs related to its
convertible senior notes of $5.3 million and $0.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Interest on the notes is payable every May 1st and November 1st until the notes are due in 2011.
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Under certain circumstances, the Company may re deem some or all of the notes on or after November 1,
2009 at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes. Holders of the notes may
require the Company to repurchase some or all of their notes if a fundamental change (as defined in the
indenture governing the notes) occurs, at a repurchase: price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the
notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest (and additional amounts, if any) to the repurchase date. The notes are
convertible into the Company’s common stock, initially at the conversion price of $9.10 per share, equal to a
conversion rate of approximately 109.8901 shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes, subject to adjustment.

7. Leases
Operating leases

The Company leases certain of its facilities and ec uipment under non-cancelable operating leases which
generally require the Company to make minimum lease payments as well as to reimburse the lessor for real
estate taxes, insurance and maintenance expenses. Thete leases, including the Hayward and Memphis facility
leases, expire at various dates through 2017 and sorie contain options for renewal. Rent expense under
operating leases was $5.0 million in 2005, $5.0 million in 2004 and $9.1 million in 2003. In November 2005,
the Company terminated two facility leases in connection with the sale of its San Diego manufacturing facility
for viral products to Genzyme Corporation and the closure of its former headquarters in Foster City.

In 2002, the Company recorded accrued expente for estimated lease exit costs associated with the
planned move of its corporate headquarters to South Sun Francisco, California in March 2003 and the related
vacancy in Foster City, California. Based upon updated estimates of the rental market for comparable
laboratory and office space, the Company subsequently revised its estimate of accrued lease exit costs and
recorded an additional $5.3 million of general and administrative expense in 2003 and $1.8 million in 2004 and
reversed $0.4 million in 2005 of previously recorded cxpense. The Company terminated its facility lease in
Foster City, California in November 2005. ‘

Capital lease obligation

During 2002, the Company amended the lease for its headquarters facility in South San Francisco,
California to fund the costs of certain structural components of the facility. As a result of this lease
amendment, the Company was required to account for this lease as a capital lease. At December 31, 2003, the
Company had $51.0 million of capital lease obligations and $42.4 million of related leasehold improvement
assets, net of accumulated amortization. ‘
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Future minimum payments under non-cancelable .operating leases and the capital lease obligation at
December 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

Operating Capital Lease

Leases Obligation
Years ending December 31:
2006 . $ 1,944 $ 6,300
2007 1,894 6.520
2008 1,966 6,748
2000 L e 1,897 7,017
2000 2,022 7,232
2011 and beyond . ... ... 20,027 59,771
Total minimum payments= . . ... ... ..ot e $29,750 93,588
Less: Amount representing interest . ... i (42,57&)
Present value of future debt payments ....... ... ... ... i 51,014
Less: Current portion of future payments........ ... ... ... (1,095)
Noncurrent portion of future payments... ..., $ 49915

8. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

In January 2000, the Company issued shares of Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock pursuant
to a call option granted in connection with a previous offering. The number of shares of common stock issuable
upon conversion of the shares of Series B preferred stock issued in January 2000 was determined by dividing
the market value of the shares to be converted by the lower of a fixed conversion price of $14.53 per share
(subject to antidilution provisions), or the average of certain trading prices during the 10 trading days
preceding such date of conversion.

In January 2008, all of the 152 then-outstanding shares of our Series B redeemable convertible preferred
stock automatically converted into an aggregate of 0.3 million shares of our common stock at a conversion
price of $6.895 per share. This conversion occurred in accordance with their terms on the five-year anniversary
of their issuance, according to a predetermined formula. Following the conversion, no shares of the Company’s
Series B preferred stock remained outstanding.

9. Stockholders’ Equity
Common stock

In March 2004, the Company completed a public offering of its common stock. In the offering, the
Company sold 4.3 million shares along with an additional 0.6 million shares pursuant to the exercise over-
allotment option by the underwriters, resulting in gross proceeds of $61.1 million. The offering was pursuant to
the Company’s shelf registration statement filed in February 2003, which allows the Company to sell shares of
its common stock up to a total dollar amount of an additional $88.9 million.

Stock option plans

Prior to May 2005, the Company had five approved stock option plans: the 1989, 1992, and 1998
Incentive Stock Option Plans, the 2001 Nonstatutory Option Plan and the 2001 Non-Employee Directors
Stock Option Plan (collectively, the Prior Plans). Under the Prior Plans, incentive stock options and non-
qualified stock options were granted to eligible employees, directors and consultants to purchase shares of the
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Company’s common stock at no less than the fair market value of the underlying common stock as of the date
of grant. Options granted under these plans have a maximum term of 10 years and generally vest over four
years at the rate of 25 percent one year from the date of grant date and 1/48 monthly thereafter. The 1998
Incentive Stock Option Plan replaced the 1989 and 1992 Incentive Stock Option Plans which expired and
were retired in 1999 and 2002, respectively.

2005 Egquity Incentive Plan: In May 2005, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2005 Equity
Incentive Plan (the 2005 Plan) at which time 1,000,000 new shares of common stock were authorized for
issuance. The 2005 Plan replaced the Company’s 1998 Incentive Stock Option Plan, the 2001 Nonstatutory
Option Plan and the 2001 Non-Employee Directors Sitock Option Plan. Upon approval of the 2005 Plan,
shares in the Prior Plans that had been reserved but not issued were reserved for issuance under the 2005 Plan.
In the future, shares that would otherwise return to the Prior Plans as a result of option cancellations will also
be reserved for issuance under the 2005 Plan. No additional grants will be made from the Prior Plans. As of
December 31, 2005, there were 0.5 million options outstanding and 2.8 million shares available for grant under
the 2005 Plan.

The 2005 Plan permits the granting of incentive and non-statutory stock options, restricted stock, stock
appreciation rights, performance units and performance: shares and other stock awards to eligible employees,
directors and consultants. The Company generally grarts options to purchase shares of common stock under
the 2005 Plan at no less than the fair market value of the underlying common stock as of the date of grant.
Options granted under the 2005 Plan have a maximum term of ten years and generally vest over four years at
the rate of 25 percent one year from the date of grant date and 1/48 monthly thereafter.
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A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plans at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 and
changes during the periods then ended is presented in the tables below (share numbers in thousands):

Outstanding Stock Options

Shares Number of  Weighted Average

, Available Shares Exercise Price

Balances, December 31,2002, ... ... ... i 3,496 5,762 $13.82 '
Authorized . ... ... . e 500 — —
Granted .. ... . (1,674) 1,674 $ 9.85
Exercised. ... .o e — (97) $ 7.41
Expired .. ... e P (31 — —
Forfeited .. ... ... 704 (704) $16.70
Balances, December 31,2003, ... ... ... . . i . 2,995 6,635 $12.62
Authorized ... .. e 500 — —
Granted .. ... . (2,131) 2,131 $11.50
BXercised. . ..o — (123) $ 6.33
Expired ... ... (31 — —
Forfeited ......... ... . i, [P 821 (821) $14.44
Balances, December 31, 2004. ... ... it i 2,154 7,822 $12.23
Authorized ... .. ... . . - 1,000 — —
Granted . ... ..o (1,758) 1,758 $ 6.27
Exercised. ...... ..o — (106) $ 4.44
Expired .. ... (28) — —
Forfeited ............. .. ... ... ..., e e 1,387 (1,387) $11.39
Balances, December 31,2005........................ e L 2,755 8,087 $11.18
Exercisable at December 31, 2005......... ... ..., 5,772 $12.26
Exercisable at December 31,2004 . ............ .. ... ........ 4,951 $12.68
Exercisable at December 31,2003.................... B, 4,056 $12.22
Weighted average fair value of options granted during 2005* .. ... $ 3.07
Weighted average fair value of options granted during 2004* ... .. $ 6.24
$ 5.66

Weighted average fair value of options granted during 2003* ... ..

* Fair value of the stock options was based on the Black-Scholes model. See Note 1 above for more
information regarding the assumptions applied to the model in each of the years presented above.
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2005:

Ontions Outstanding
‘Weighted-

Average Options Exercisable
Remaining Weighted- Weighted-
- Number Contractual Average Number Average
Range of Outstanding Life Exercise Exercisable Exercise
Exercise Price (in thousands; (in years) Price (in thousands) Price
$350-87.21 ... 2,835 7.0 $ 591 1,382 $ 5.52
$7.34-8950 ... ... 1,429 54 $ 8.75 1,229 $ 8.72
$9.95-814.04 .. ... oLl 1,746 7.6 $12.72 1,135 $12.57
$14.07-$19.63 . ... ... ... ... 1,595 5.7 $17.03 1,544 $17.12
$19.88-84263 ... ... ... ... 482 5.2 ‘ $24.36 482 $24.36
8,087 5,772

Employee stock purchase plans

The 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“the Purchase Plan™) was approved by stockholders in June
2002. The Purchase Plan allows eligible employees to purchase common stock at 85 percent of its fair value at
certain specified dates. Employee contributions are limited to 10 percent of compensation or $25,000,
whichever is less. As of December 31, 2005, a total of 0.5 million shares of common stock have been
authorized for issuance under the Purchase Plan. The Purchase Plan also allows for annual increases in the
number of shares authorized for issuance under the Purchase Plan to be added on the first day of each of the
Company’s fiscal years beginning in 2003, equal to the lesser amount of (a) 0.1 million shares,
(b) 1/2 percent of the outstanding additional shares or. such date, or (¢) an amount determined by the Board
of Directors. Pursuant to this annual provision, 0.1 million shares were authorized for issuance effective
January 1, 2005, and an additional 0.1 million shares were authorized for issuance effective January 1, 2006.
As of December 31, 2003, 0.5 million shares have becn issued pursuant to the Purchase Plan.

Stockholder rights plan

In July 1993, the Board of Directors approved u stockholder rights plan under which stockholders of
record on August 21, 1995 received one preferred share purchase right for each outstanding share of the
Company’s common stock. In July 2000, the Company made certain technical changes to amend the plan and
extend the life of the plan until 2010. The rights are :xercisable only if an acquirer purchases 15 percent or
more of the Company’s common stock or announces « tender offér for 15 percent or more of the Company’s
common stock. Upon exercise, holders other than the ¢ cquirer may purchase Cell Genesys stock at a discount.
The Board of Directors may terminate the rights plan at any time or under certain circumstances redeem the
rights. ‘

Non-employee stock-based compensation

Cell Genesys recorded $0.1 million in each of 2005, 2004 and 2003 for non-employee stock-based
compensation for grants of stock options to consultants. These amounts were based upon the fair value of the
vested portion of the grants. Additional compensation will be recorded in future periods for the remaining
unvested portion of the grants.
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Common shares reserved for future issuance

At December 31, 2005, the Company had reserved shares of common stock for potential future issuarice
as follows: 15.9 million shares upon conversion of convertible senior notes and 10.9 million for exercises under
the Company’s stock option plans and stock purchase plan.

10. Income Taxes

The Company’s benefit (provision) for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Current:
Federal . ... $(2,658) $ — § 3726
State ... ... e — — —
(2,658) — 3,726
Deferred: ‘
Federal . ... .. .. . o (3,270)  (3,745) 20,906
At . . e — — —
(3,270)  (3,745) 20,906
Benefit (provision) for income taxes ................. .. ..... $(5,928) $(3,745) $24,632

The tax provision recorded in 2005 relates to the realized gain on the sale of 3.7 million shares of Abgenix
common stock partially offset by tax benefits related to unrealized gains on Abgenix common stock and
$2.6 million of additional interest for tax contingencies. The tax provision recorded in 2004 relates to the
realized gain on the sale of 0.8 million shares of Abgenix common stock. The tax benefit recorded in 2003
primarily relates to net operating losses that, at that time, the Company concluded were realizable based on
the Company’s estimate of future taxable income, including future taxable income resulting from sales of its
Abgenix common stock.

A reconciliation of the Company’s recorded income tax benefit (provision) to the U.S. statutory rate
follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Tax benefit at U.S. statutoryrate .. ....................... $ 20,654 § 32,783  $28,363
Change in valuation allowance ........................... (23,357)  (43,998)  (9,941)
Research and development tax credits ..................... 2,739 2,389 2,511
Tax effect of realized and unrealized (gains) losses on

available-for-sale-securities recorded in other comprehensive

1o Te7e) 14T (3,270) 5,094 —
Interest on tax CONtNGENCIES . .. ... vveit it inrann e (2,658) — —
Prior year Items . . .. ... oo — — 3,726
Other ........ .. ... e (36) (13) (27)
Benefit (provision) for income taxes ...................... $ (5,928) §$ (3,745) $24,632

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax
purposes of approximately $301.0 million, which will expire on various dates between 2007 and 2025, if not
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utilized. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had federal R&D tax credits of $14.5 million, which will
expire on various dates between 2006 and 2025. As of December-31, 2005, the Company had net operating
loss carryforwards for California state income tax purpcses of $60.4 million, which will expire on various dates
between 2012 and 2015. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had California state R&D tax credits of
$15.4 million, which do not expire. The Company also had Manufacturer Investment Credits of $0.1 million
which expire in 2010 and 2011. Ultilization of the net operating loss and credit carryforwards may be subject to
substantial annual limitation due to ownership change provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and
similar state provisions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of net operating losses and credits
before utilization. To the extent net operating loss carr/forwards, when realized, relate to non-qualified stock
option deductions, the resulting benefits will be credit:d to Stockholders’ Equity. Prior vear items relate to
changes in estimates to the net operating loss carrybacks to the 2000 year tax returns that were filed during
2003.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects o temporary'differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2005 2004

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards ...................... e $ 108,372 $ 90,073

Research credit carryforwards. ........... .. ... ... .. ... ... 24,573 20,701

Capitalized research and development, net of anortization ......... 11,347 8,405

Other accruals and reserves .. ... ., B 1,654 6,164

Net deferred tax assets .......... JR PR 145,946 125,343

Valuation allowance . ........... SRR DU S (118,961)  (93,550)

‘ 26,985 31,793

Deferred tax liabilities: )

Depreciation . ........c.uiiiiiii P (2,555) (6,616)

Unrealized gain on investments, including Abgenix, Inc. ........... (24,430) (25,177)
Net deferred tax. ... i $ — 8§ —

Réalization of deferred tax assets is dependent upin future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of
which are uncertain. The valuation allowance increased by $25.4 million, $45.5 million, and $24.9 million in
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In July 2005, the IRS issued a Notice of Projosed Adjustment (“NOPA”) seeking to disallow
$48.7 million of net operating losses that the Company deducted for the 2000 fiscal year and seeking a
$3.4 million penalty for substantial underpayment of tax in fiscal 2000. The Company responded to the NOPA
in September 2005, disagreeing with the conclusions reached by the IRS in the NOPA and secking to resolve
this matter at the Appeals level. The Company recorded a liability of $30.0 million for this and other federal
and state tax contingencies, including estimated interest expense, at December 31, 2004 and accrued an
additional $2.6 million of interest related to these tax cortingencies in 2005. If the Company is unsuccessful in
defending the tax filing positions, then potentially the lizbility for federal and state tax contingencies could be
significantly higher than the $32.6 million that has been recorded as of December 31, 2005. The Company
continues to believe that its tax positions comply with all applicable tax laws, and continues to vigorously
defend against the NOPA using all administrative and legal processes available.
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The nature of these matters is uncertain and subject to change. As a result, the amount of our liability for
certain of these matters could exceed or be less than the amount of our current estimates, depending on the
outcome of these matters. An outcome of such matters different than previously estimated could materiaily
impact our financial position or results of operations in the year of resolution.

11. 401(k) Plan

‘The Company sponsors a defined-contribution savings plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code covering all full time employees (“the Cell Genesys 401K Plan”). Participating employees
may contribute up to the annual Internal Revenue Service contribution limit. The Cell Genesys 401K Plan
also provides for employer matching contributions up to an annual limit of $3,000. The Cell Genesys 401K
Plan is intended to qualify under Section 401 of the Internal Revenue Code so that contributions by the
employees and by the Company, and income earned on the contributions are not taxable to employees until
withdrawn from the plan. Contributions by the Company are tax deductible when made. At the discretion of
each participant, the assets of the Cell Genesys 401K Plan are invested in any of twelve different investment
options.

The employer matching contribution is invested in the same investment options selected by the employee
for their individual contributions. The employer matching contributions vest ratably over three years. The
Company contributed $0.9 million, $0.9 million and $0.8 million in employer matching contributions in 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively.

12. Statement of Cash Flows

Supplemental disclosure to the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows is as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Cash paid for interest .. ..........oi i $9,997 $9,155 $ 5,887
Cash refunded for income taxes ............covuiuneiirennenns $ — $ —  $(16,532)

The Company capitalized interest expense of $0.8 million in 2003 in connection with the construction of
its manufacturing facility in Hayward, California.

13. Related Party

Transactions with related parties are under terms no less favorable to the Company than those with other
customers.

Ceregene: On August 3, 2004, Ceregene, Inc., our previously majority-owned subsidiary, announced an
initial closing of a $32.0 million Series B preferred stock financing. In July 2005, Ceregene announced the
second closing of its $32.0 million Series B preferred stock financing. The Company participated in the second
closing through the partial conversion of an outstanding bridge loan to Ceregene and related accrued interest
into shares of Ceregene’s Series B preferred stock. Immediately following the second closing the Company
continued to own approximately 25% of Ceregene’s capital stock on a fully diluted basis. At December 31,
2005, the principal balance of the bridge loan outstanding to Ceregene was $1.8 million.

Subsequent to the initial closing of the Series B preferred stock financing on August 3, 2004, the
Company accounted for its investment in Ceregene under the equity method of accounting for investments as
a result of the Company’s reduced ownership percentage in Ceregene. Prior to August 3, 2004, the accounts of
Ceregene were consolidated with our own. For the four months ended December 31, 2004, the Company
recorded revenue of $0.8 million from Ceregene under a contract manufacturing arrangement and technology
license revenue of $0.2 million under the same agreement. In 2005, the Company recorded revenue of
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$0.1 million from Ceregene. We do not expect to recognize future losses from Ceregene, as the cost basis of
the Company’s investment in Ceregene is now zero.

The Company has guaranteed certain secured indebtedness of Ceregene totaling $0.2 million until May
2007. The Company has accrued less than $0.1 millon and $0.2 million related to this guarantee as of
December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, respectively.

Xenogen: During 20035, the Company paid $0.2 raillien for hcense fees to Xenogen Corporation whose
Chairman and CEO is a member of our Board of Dir¢ctors.

14. Selected Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

. Quarter Ended
Murch 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

Quarterly Results of Operations __2005 2005 2005 2005
(Unaudited) (In thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenue ..., $ 1646 $ 2,782 3 71 $ 85
Research and development ............... 24,843 123,199 23,333 21,030
General and administrative . .............. 3,763 3,945 3,648 4,986
Restructuring charges ................... — . 833 744 753
Gain on sale of Abgenix, Inc. common

StOCK ..o — . — 6,293 48,830
Net income (10SS) .. ....ovviiiinenn.. (29,311)  (27,416) (27,268) 19,056
Basic net income (loss) per common share (0.55)  (0.60) (0.60) 0.42
Diluted net income (loss) per common :

share ... .. (0.55) . (0.60) (0.60) 0.33

_ Quarter Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

Quarterly Results of Operations __ 2004 2004 2004 2004
(Unaudited) (In thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenue ......... ... ... $§ 2,584 ' 2,462 $ 3,228 $ 3,184
Research and development .. ............. 22,644 . 24,097 21,686 23,706
General and administrative(1) ............ 5,549 . 5,115 3,772 3,492
Gain on sale of Abgenix, Inc. common

Stock .. 5,506 ' 6,474 180 —
Netloss. ... (20,919)  (26,019) (24,049) (26,424)
Basic and diluted loss per common share . . . (0.52) (0.58) (0.54) (0.59)

(1) The quarters ended March 31 and June 30, 2004 include facility exit costs of $1.0 million and
$0.8 million, respectively. ‘

Basic and diluted loss per share is computed independently for each of the quarters presented. Therefore,
the sum of quarterly basic and diluted per share amounis may not equal annual basic and diluted loss per share
amounts.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management evaluated, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief
Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that
information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive and principal
financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure, and that such
information is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities
and Exchange Commission rules and forms.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over the Company’s financial reporting.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that:

s pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;

« provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the Company; and

» provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use
or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions and that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework.
Based on the assessment using those criteria, management believes that, as of December 31, 2005, our internal
control over financial reporting was effective.

Our independent registered public accountants, Ernst & Young LLP, audited the consolidated financial
statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and have issued an audit report on management’s
assessment of our internal control over financial reporting as well as on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. Their report on the audit of internal control over financial reporting
appears on page 42 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

year ended December 31, 2005, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.

PART 111

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

(a) The information required by this Item concerning our directors is incorporated by reference to our
Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual Meet ng of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of our 2005 fiscal year (the “2006 Proxy Statement”).

(b} The information required by this Item concerning our executive officers is set forth in the section
entitled “Executive Officers” in Part 1 of this Form 10-K and is incorporated by reference into this section.

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to all of our employees, including our principal executive
officer, our principal financial officer and our principal accounting officer. This code of ethics, which is part of
our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our employees, is posted on our website and can
be accessed from the following link: http://www.cellgenesys.com/investing-business-conduct.shtml!

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding any amendment -
to, or waiver from, a provision of this code of ethics by posting such information on our website, at the address
and location specified above.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our 2006 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAI! BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MAITERS

The information required by this item regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and
management, as well as equity compensation plans, is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in

the sections “Beneficial Owners and Management’s Ownership of Cell Genesys Stock” and “Equity
Compensation Plan Information” in our 2006 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our 2006 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorporzted by reference to our 2006 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are included as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

1. Index to Financial Statements

Page

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2005and 2004 ............ ... .. .. ..... 44
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and

2003 L e e 45
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2005,

2004 and 2008 . ... 46
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and

2003 L e 47

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .................... e 48

2. Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or not required or because
the required information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits
Number  Note Description
2.1 (1) Agreement and plan of merger and reorganization, dated as of January 12, 1997, among Cell
Genesys, S Merger Corp. and Somatix Therapy Corporation.

23 (3) Series A Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated January 10, 2001, pursuant to which
Cell Genesys purchased shares of Series A Preferred Stock of Ceregene, Inc.

2.4 (4) Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated as of August 1, 2001 by and among Cell
Genesys, Satellite Acquisition Corporation, Calydon, Inc., Kenneth Socha as shareholder
representative (with respect to Articles VII and IX only) and Chase Manhattan Bank and
Trust Company, N.A., as escrow agent.

3.1 (5) Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
3.2 (25) Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

33 (5) Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferences and Privileges of Series A Participating
Preferred Stock.

34 (5) Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferences and Privileges
of Series A Participating Preferred Stock.

35 (5) Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock.
3.6 (6) Bylaws.

4.1 (7) Amended and Restated Preferred Shares Rights Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2000
between Cell Genesys and Fleet National Bank.

4.2 (8) Indenture dated as of October 20, 2004 by and between Cell Genesys and U.S. Bank National
Association.

10.11  (9) Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors and Officers.

10.6 (9) License Agreement dated August 13, 1990 between Cell Genesys and the University of North
Carolina at Chapel Hill.

10.9 (9) License Agreement dated June 28, 1991 between Cell Genesys and the University of Utah
Research Foundation.

10.10+ (10) Amended Employment Agreement with Stephen A. Sherwin, M.D.
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Number Note

10.11  (11)

1012 (25)

10.13+ (12)
10.14% (13)
10.15¢ (14)
10.16% (15)
10.17* (16)

10.19 (16)

10.21% (17)

10.22* (18)

10.23* (19)

1024 (20)

1025 (21)

10.26+ (22)
1027t (23)

10.28+ (24)

12.1

21.1
231
31.1

32.1

ey
(3)

4)

(25)

(25)
(25)
(25)

(26)

Description
Research and Development Leases between Cell Genesys and Drawbridge/Forbes LLC,
dated March 3, 2001.

Lease Agreement dated June 29, 2000 between Lincoln-RECP Industrial OPCO, LLC and
Cell Genesys, First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated January 2, 2001 between F & S
Hayward, LLC and Cell Genesys and Lease Agreement dated January 7, 2002 between F &
S Hayward II, LLC and Cell Gencsys for premises located at 24570 Clawiter Road,
Hayward, California.

2001 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan,
2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
Form of Change of Control Severance: Agreement.
Amended and Restated 1998 Incentive Stock Plan.

Amended and Restated GVAX Agreement by and between Japan Tobacco Inc. and Cell
Genesys dated November 26, 2001.

Industrial Lease Agreement dated February 1, 2002, between Shelby Drive Corporation, and
Cell Genesys for property located at <600 Shelby Drive, Suite 108, Memphis, Tennessee.

License Agreement dated June 7, 202 between Transkaryotic Therapies, Inc. and Cell
Genesys, Inc.

Patent Assignment and License Agreement dated July 23, 2003 between Cell Genesys,
Novartis AG and Genetic Therapy Inc.

Product Development and Option Agieement dated July 23, 2003 between Cell Genesys and
Novartis Pharma AG.

Standstill and Registration Rights Ajreement dated July 23, 2003 between Cell Genesys,
Novartis AG and Genetic Therapy, Iic.

Resale Registration Rights Agreemen: dated as of October 20, 2004 among Cell Genesys and
J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and Lehman Brothers Inc., as representatives of the initial
purchaser.

Contract of Employment dated February 235, 2005 between Robert J. Dow and Cell Genesys.

Change of Control Severance Agreement dated May 2, 2005 between Robert J. Dow and Cell
Genesys.

2005 Equity Incentive Plan.

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Ratio of Earnings to Combined
Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividend Requirements.

Subsidiaries of Cell Genesys, Inc.
Consent of Independent Registered F'ublic Accounting Firm.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer end Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Confidential treatment has been granted with 1espect to specific portions of this exhibit.

Management compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit pursuant to
Item 15(c) of Form 10-K.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 filed with the Compény’s Form 8-K dated January 12, 1997.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed 'with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2001. ‘

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed 'with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2001.
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(5)

(6)

(7)
(8)

©)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

(17

(18)

(19)

(20)

(21

(22)

(23)

(24)

(25)
(26)

Incorporated by reference to the same numbered exhibit filed with the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-3/A (Reg. No. 333-102122) filed with the SEC on January 30, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to the same numbered exhibit filed with the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 8-A12G/A dated July 28, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 filed with the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3
{Reg. No. 333-121732) filed with the SEC on December 29, 2004.

Incorporated by reference to the same numbered exhibit filed with the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 33-46452) as amended.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 filed with the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1992.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 filed with the Company’s chistration Statement on Form S-8
(Reg. No. 333-91796) filed with the SEC on July 2, 2002.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 filed with the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8
(Reg. No. 333-91796) filed with the SEC on July 2, 2002.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 filed with the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2002.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to the same numbered exhibit filed with the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to the same numbered exhibit filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 (filed July 30, 2003).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3
(Reg. No. 333-121732) filed with the SEC on December 29, 2004.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 filed with the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8
(Reg. No. 333-127158) filed with the SEC on August 3, 2005.

Filed herewith.

Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized,
this 13th day of March 2006.

Zell Genesys, Inc.

3y: /s/ SHARON E. TETLOW

Sharon E. Tetlow
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in th: capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/  STEPHEN A. SHERWIN, M.D. Chairman of the Board and March 13, 2006
Stephen A. Sherwin, M.D. Chief Executive Officer
{Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ SHARON E. TETLOW Senior Vice President and March 13, 2006
Sharon E. Tetlow Chief Financial Officer

(Frincipal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

/s/ Davip W. CARTER Director March 13, 2006
David W. Carter ' ‘ '

/s/ NANCY M. CROWELL Director March 13, 2006
Nancy M. Crowell

/s/  JaMEs M. GOWER Director March 13, 2006
James M. Gower

/s/ JouN T. PoTTs, JR., M.D. | Director March 13, 2006
John T. Potts, Jr., M.D.

/s/ Tuomas E. SHENK, PH.D. - Director March 13, 2006
Thomas E. Shenk, Ph.D.

/s/ EUGENE L. STEP ‘ Director March 13, 2006
Eugene L. Step

/s/ INDER M. VERMA, PH.D. Director March 13, 2006
Inder M. Verma, Ph.D. :

/s/ DEnNIs L. WINGER Director March 13, 2006
Dennis L. Winger




Exhibit 12.1

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed “harges and Ratio of Earnings to Combined
Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividend Requirements
(In thousands, except for ratios)

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
. Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Loss before income taxes.................. $(59,011) $(93,666) $(81,038) $(45,235) $(34,185)
Add: Fixed charges....................... 13,263 13,433 10,743 6,576 4,450
Less: Capitalized interest .. ................ — — (832) (765) —
Earnings, as defined ...................... $(45,748) $(80,233) $(71,127) $(39.424) $(29,735)
Interest eXpense. . .......oviiiiineea. .. $10,579 $ 9885 § 5360 $ 1,011 $ 500
Capitalized interest .. ...t — L — 832 765 —
Estimated interest portion of rental expense .. 2,384 3,548 4,551 4,800 3,950
Fixed charges..................... ..., $ 13,263 § 13433 $ 10,743 $§ 6,576 § 4,450
Deficiency of earnings to fixed charges ...... §(59,011) $(93,666) $(81,870) $(46,000) $§(34,185)
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges........... N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividend Requirements
" Year Ended December 31,

2008 2004 2003 2002 2001

Earnings, as defined (from above) .......... $(45,748) $(80,233) $(71,127) $(39,424) $(29,735)
Preferred stock dividend requirements ... .. .. 4 100 230 702 785
Earnings, as defined ...................... $(45,744) $(80,133) $(70,897) $(38,722) $(28,950)
Fixed charges (from above) ............... $ 13,263 $ 13433 $10,743 § 6576 $ 44350
Preferred stock dividend requirements ....... 4 100 230 702 785
Combined fixed charges and preferred stock

dividend requirements. .................. $ 13257 $13533 $ 10973 § 7278 § 5,235
Deficiency of earnings to combined fixed

charges and preferred stock dividend

requirements ... i $(59,011) $(93,666) $(81,870) $(46,000) $(34,185)
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges

and preferred stock dividend requirements. . N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

For the purpose of calculating the ratio of earnings t> fixed charges, earnings are defined as consolidated
income from continuing operations before income taxes plus fixed:charges. Fixed charges are the sum of
interest of all indebtedness, including amortization of debt issuance costs, and estimated interest within rental
expense. The ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividend requirements includes
the tax adjusted deemed dividend to preferred stockhold:rs. ‘




Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF CELL GENESYS, INC.

Name of Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Organization

Cell Genesys Limited United Kingdom




Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in “he frallowing Registration Statements:

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)

6)

7)

8)

9)

10)

11)

12)

13)

14)

15)

16)

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-65077) of Cell Genesys, Inc.
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-71608) of Cell Genesys, Inc.
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-(02122) of Cell Genesys, Inc.
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-121732) of Cell Genesys, Inc.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-07707) pertaining to the 1989 Incentive Stock Option
Plan and the 1992 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of Cell Genesys, Inc.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-£9633) pertaining to the 1998 Incentive Stock Option
Plan of Cell Genesys, Inc.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-42644) pertaining to the 1998 Incentive Stock Option
Plan and the 1992 Employee Stock Purchase Plar of Cell Genesys, Inc.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-34376) pertaining to the 2001 Nonstatutory Option
Plan of Cell Genesys, Inc.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-63398) pertaining to the 2001 Director Option Plan of
Cell Genesys, Inc.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-7160¢) pertaining to the Calydon, Inc. Management
Incentive and Retention Plan, as amended C

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-91796) pertaining to the 2001 Nonstatutory Option
Plan and the 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of Cell Genesys, Inc.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-108740) pertaining to the 1998 Incentive Stock Option
Plan and the 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of Cell Genesys, Inc.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-114720) pertaining to the 2002 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan of Cell Genesys, Inc.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1.756%) pertaining to the 2001 Nonstatutory Option
Plan of Cell Genesys, Inc.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-127158) pertéining to the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan
and the 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ¢f Cell Genesys, Inc.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-131367) pertalmng to the 2002 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan of Cell Genesys, Inc.

of our reports dated March 7, 2006, with respect to th: consolidated financial statements, management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting of Cell Genesys, Inc., included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the
year ended December 31, 2005. 3

'

/s/ Ermst & Young LLP

Palo Alto, California
March 10, 2006




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Stephen A. Sherwin, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cell Genesys, Inc,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 13, 2006

By: /s/ STEPHEN A. SHERWIN, M.D.

Name: Stephen A. Sherwin, M.D.
Title: Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer




CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Sharon E. Tetlow, certify that:
1 I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cell Genesys, Inc.;

2 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financiil condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision. to ensure -that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financjal statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fis:al quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalert functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likel to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial informaticn; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that iavolves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control cver financial reporting.

Dated: March 13, 2006

By: /s/{f SHARON E. TETLOW

Name: Sharon E. Tetlow
Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Stephen A. Sherwin, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Cell Genesys, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2005 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Form 10-K fairly presents in all material
respects the financial condition and results of operations of Cell Genesys, Inc.

Dated: March 13, 2006

By: /s/ STEPHEN A. SHERWIN, M.D

Name: Stephen A. Sherwin, M.D.
Title: Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer

I, Sharon E. Tetlow, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Cell Genesys, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year
period ended December 31, 2005 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Form 10-K fairly presents in all
material respects the financial condition and results of operations of Cell Genesys, Inc.

Dated: March 13, 2006

By: /s/ SHARON E. TETLOW

Name: Sharon E. Tetlow
Title:  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer
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Shareholder Information

DESIGN: HEINEY & CRAIG, INC., SAN FRANCISCO

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of
Stockholders will be held
at 10:00 a.m., Tuesday,
june 20, 2006, at the
company's corporate
headquarters.

Corporate Headquarters

500 Forbes Boulevard
South San Francisco,
California 94080
Tel: 650.266.3000
Fax: 650.266.3010

Corporate Website

For further information, the
company’s website provides
current and historical
information on Cell Genesys,
its research and development
programs, its clinical trials,
investor relations, and

career opportunities.

This site is located at:
www.cellgenesys.com

Investor Relation;

General stockholder inquiries,
including requests for the
company’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K shotld be
directed to:

Investor Relations

Cell Genesys, Inc.

500 Forbes Boulevard
South San Francisco,
California 94080

Tel: 650-266-3200

Fax: 650-266-3010

E-mail: ir@celigenesys.com

Transfer Agent arid Registrar

Communications concerning stock
transfer requirements, lost certificates

and change of address should be
directed to:

Computershare Trust Company, N.A.

P.O. Box 43023
Providence, RI 02940-3023
Tel: 781.575.2879
www.computershare.com

Legal Counsel

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati
Professional Corporation

Palo Alto, California

Independent Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP
Palo Alto, California

Stock Listing

The company’s common stock is
traded over-the-counter on the
Nasdag National Market under
the symbol: CEGE.

Cell Genesys, the Cell Genesys
logo, GVAX and “Changing the
Future of Oncology” are registered
trademarks of Cell Genesys.

© 2006 Cell Genesys, Inc.

Printed in the U.S.A.
All rights reserved.

Statements made herein about Cell Genesys, other than staternents of historical fact, including statements about the company’s
progress, resultsand timing of clinicaltrialsand preclinical prograrnsand the nature of product pipelines areforward-looking statements
and are subject to anumber of uncertainties that could cause actu il resuits to differ materially from the statements made, including risks
associated with the success of clinical trials and research and development programs, the regulatory approval process for clinical trials,
competitive technologies and products, patents, continuation cf corpiorate partnerships and the need for additional financings. For
information about these and other risks which may affect Cell Genesys, please see the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2005 filed on March 13, 2005 as well as Cell Genesys’ reports on Form 10-Q and 8-K and other

reports filed from time to time with the Securities and Exchance Commission.
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